
 

 
Addenbrooke House   Ironmasters Way    Telford   TF3 4NT 

 

Continued… 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

Date Wednesday, 23 October 2019 Time 6.00 pm 

Venue The Telford Suite, Whitehouse Hotel, Watling Street, Wellington, Telford TF1 2NJ 

 

Enquiries Regarding this Agenda 

Democratic Services Jayne Clarke / Joe Galkowski 01952 383205 / 
388356 

Media Enquiries Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer Valerie Hulme – Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager 
Katherine Kynaston – Assistant Director: 
Business, Development & Employment 

01952 384130 
 

01952 384012 

 

Committee 
Membership: 

Councillors C F Smith (Chair), J Loveridge (Vice-Chair), 
N A Dugmore, I T W Fletcher, A S Jhawar, J Jones, K Middleton, 
P J Scott and C R Turley 

  
Substitutes: Councillors E A Clare, G L Offland, K S Sahota, E M Callear, 

G H Cook, D R W White, V A Fletcher, W L Tomlinson and 
R T Kiernan 

 

AGENDA 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

 

3.   Minutes 3 - 10 
 To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting.   

 
 

4.   Deferred/Withdrawn Applications 
 

 

5.   Site Visits 
 

 

6.   Planning Applications for Determination 11 - 12 
 Please note that the order in which applications are heard may be 

changed at the meeting.  If Members have queries about any of the 
applications, they are requested to raise them with the relevant Planning 
Officer prior to the Committee meeting. 
 

 

6.1.   TWC/2016/0553 - Land East of Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge, 
Telford, Shrosphire 

13 - 34 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

6.2.   TWC/2016/0554 - Site of Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge, Telford, 
Shropshire 

35 - 56 

6.3.   TWC/2019/0133 - Recycling House, Rock Road, Ketley, Telford, 
Shropshire TF1 5HW 

57 - 84 

6.4.   TWC/2019/0487 - Land west of Lawford Close, Off Majestic Way, 
Aqueduct, Telford, Shropshire 

85 - 112 

6.5.   TWC/2019/0560 - Site of The Mill House, Walcot, Telford, 
Shropshire 

113 - 136 

  

Page 2



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 25 
September 2019 at 6.00 pm in The Telford Suite, The Whitehouse Hotel, 

Watling Street, Wellington, Telford TF1 2NJ 
 

 
Present: Councillors C F Smith (Chair), J Loveridge (Vice-Chair), 
N A Dugmore, I T W Fletcher, A S Jhawar, J Jones, K Middleton and P J Scott 
 
In Attendance:  
 
Apologies: C R Turley 
 
PC21 Declarations of Interest 
 
In respect of planning application TWC/2019/0133, Councillor A Jhawar 
advised that he was a Ward Member for Ketley and Overdale but had not 
been involved in any discussions on this application. 
 
PC22 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee 
held on 31 July 2019 be confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 
 
PC23 Deferred/Withdrawn Applications 
 
None. 
 
PC24 Site Visits 
 
None. 
 
PC25 Planning Applications for Determination 
 
Members had received a schedule of planning applications to be determined 
by the Committee and fully considered each report and the supplementary 
information tabled at the meeting regarding planning application 
TWC/2019/0504.  
 
PC26 TWC/2019/0133 - Recycling House, Rock Road, Ketley, 

Telford, Shropshire TF1 5HW 
 
This was an application for variation of Condition 10 (hours of operation), 
Condition 16 (clarification of type of waste quantity) and Condition 17 (vehicle 
movements to planning permission TWC/2017/0882 with regard to Recycling 
House, Rock Road, Ketley, Telford, Shropshire TF1 5HW.  A site visit took 
place on the afternoon prior to the meeting. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Ketley Parish Council and Lawley and Overdale Parish Council had requested 
that the application be determined by the Planning Committee.  Financial 
contributions were sought towards the installation of Vehicle Activated 
Signage (VAS) and towards road resurfacing within the vicinity of the site 
access on Waterloo Road. 
 
Councillor S Millward-Thomas spoke against the application on behalf of 
Ketley Parish Council and raised concerns regarding the increase in hours 
from 6am, highway safety, pedestrian safety, increase of waste and HGVs 
and the impact on the amenity of residents. 
 
Councillor M Boylan, Ward Councillor spoke against the application and 
raised concerns regarding the inappropriate business hours from 6am, the 
impact of noise and disturbance, increased tonnage, safety of the toxins from 
the incinerator bottom ash and safety in regard to nearby Schools and 
residents. 
 
J Francis, a member of the public, raised concerns regarding the historical 
use of the site and the various operators and that Condition 11 (operating 
hours) and Condition 17 (tonnage of lorries) should remain in place due to 
highway safety, nearby schools, unacceptable 6am business hours and 
tonnage.  Although the introduction of a condition limiting HGVs between the 
hours of 8am-9am and 2.30pm-3.30pm would alleviate issues during School 
hours. 
 
The Planning Officer informed Members that the application before them was 
an improvement of the consent currently in place as there was a reduction in 
HGV movements of 200 per month and this could be evidenced upon request.  
With regard to the variation of hours allowing HGVs to exit the site between 
6am and 7 am, this would be limited to vehicular movements only and no 
other operation would take place.   A noise assessment had taken place 
which had reported there would be no detrimental impact to residents and 
there would be an enhanced access/egress on the site.  The Local Authority 
could condition that there be no vehicular movements to or from the site 
during 8am-9am and 2.30pm-3.30pm during school term time.  Section 106 
contributions were requested towards highway warning signage and towards 
highway maintenance in the vicinity of the site. 
 
During the ensuing debate some Members raised concerns regarding the 
proposed 6 am start, the impact on residential amenity, narrow roads and the 
impact on the local schools and the toxins in incinerator bottom ash waste.    
Other Members welcomed the highway signage, but raised concerns 
regarding the lack of visibility, the increase in size of HGVs, increased 
tonnage and the impact on the local residents with the increased operating 
hours and what reassurance they could be given that the conditions would be 
followed.  Some Members felt that they could not agree to the proposed 
changes to condition 10 or condition 16, although they welcomed condition 
17.  It was suggested that this application be deferred. 
 

Page 4



 

 

The Highways Officers informed Members that there were currently no 
restrictions on the size of the vehicles accessing the site, that this application 
would reduce vehicular movements from 600 to 400, a warning system would 
be put in place and a restriction on the operating hours during school start/end 
times could be put in place.  
 
The Planning Officer informed Members that the processing of the incinerator 
bottom ash waste had been previously agreed and did not form part of this 
application. 
 
During a further debate, some Members felt that conditions 10 and 16 were 
not acceptable and that they were concerned regarding early start time and 
road safety and it was moved and seconded to refuse the application. 
 
The legal advisor confirmed to Members that, before making a decision to 
refuse it is necessary to be clear regarding the reasons for refusal.  Members 
then debated their concerns regarding operating hours and tonnage. 
 
The Development Management Service Delivery Manager clarified that the 
application comprised a package of variations to conditions and Section 106 
contributions. Therefore, it would not be appropriate to approve some 
elements of the package but refuse others. The Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager added that the application could be deferred for 
further discussions with the applicant to take place in the light of Members’ 
concerns should Members wish to defer determination, they would need to 
defer the application as a package of proposals. 
 
Some Members further suggested a deferral for one cycle in order for the 
applicant to consider Member concerns. 
 
On being put to the vote it was, unanimously  
 
RESOLVED – that this application be deferred for one cycle for the 
applicant to consider the concerns raised by Members. 
 
PC27 TWC/2019/0177 - Land south and west of Tibberton Motor 

Repairs, Mill Lane, Tibberton, Newport, Shropshire 
 
This was a reserved matters application for the erection of 21 no. houses and 
garages including appearance, landscaping, layout and scale and had 
previously been deferred by Planning Committee on 31 July 2019 with regard 
to contaminated land and the pedestrian refuge.    
 
Councillor J Berry spoke against the application on behalf of Tibberton & 
Cherrington Parish Council who raised concerns regarding land ownership 
with regard to the pedestrian refuge and contamination of the land. 
 
Councillor S Burrell, Ward Councillor, spoke against the application regarding 
the footpath, access, land ownership, highway safety and large agricultural 
vehicles travelling along the lane. 

Page 5



 

 

 
Mr Wright, a member of the public, spoke against the application and raised 
concerns regarding land contamination, pedestrian safety with regard to the 
refuge and land ownership. 
 
Mr Beeston, Applicant, spoke in favour of the application and informed 
Members that the access and refuge had previously been approved, that 
space standards had now been met and that the Environment Agency felt the 
application was acceptable. 
 
The Planning Officer confirmed that Highways Officers had no technical 
objections regarding highway safety or the pedestrian safety scheme and that 
Members were asked to consider appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 
of the development. 
 
The Legal Advisor confirmed to Members that in their determination of this 
reserved matters application that they were only required to consider 
appearance, landscaping, scale and layout and that the discussions around 
highways and contamination had been dealt with previously by the Planning 
Inspector on appeal. The Inspector’s decision letter referred to these issues 
and addressed them in the conditions within the outline consent. The Legal 
Advisor expressed the view that the conditions imposed by the Inspector 
should give Members the reassurance they were seeking in respect of their 
highways and contamination concerns. In addition, the Legal Advisor 
explained that highway works could be undertaken within the boundaries of 
the highway regardless of who owns the subsoil. 
 
Upon being put to the vote it was, by a majority:- 
 
RESOLVED – that delegated authority be granted to the Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager to grant reserve matters 
approval subject to the conditions set out in the report (with authority to 
finalise conditions to be delegated to the Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager). 
 
PC28 TWC/2019/0499 - 9 Belgrave Crescent, Stirchley, Telford, 

Shropshire TF3 1BJ 
 
Application TWC/2019/0499 9 Belgrave Crescent, Stirchley, Telford was 
subject to an Appeal for non-determination and would be dealt with alongside 
Planning Application TWC/2019/0635 as this application was comparable in 
its nature.  This application would be debated and Members would confirm 
how they would have determined the application as if it had not gone to 
Appeal. 
 
The decision regarding each application would be made individually. 
 
A site visit took place on the afternoon prior to the meeting. 
 

Page 6



 

 

Councillor R Breeze spoke against the application on behalf of Stirchley & 
Brookside Parish Council who raised concerns regarding overdevelopment 
and it was not in keeping with the nature of the local properties and that their 
objections remained the same as they had done from the previous meeting, 
although they were sympathetic to the needs of the family. 
 
Councillor A England, Ward Councillor, reiterated his concerns from the 
previous meeting which included the detrimental effect on the quiet and 
attractive cul-de-sac, against planning criteria, overlooking and loss of privacy, 
overbearing and unsympathetic development which detracted from the street 
scene and which would set a precedent for future development. 
 
Mr R Davies, a member of the public, spoke against the application on behalf 
of local residents and raised concerns regarding the impact on privacy, 
contrary to Policy BE1 and BE2, overbearing, not sympathetic to the street 
scene, unacceptable precedent for future development and that a rear or 
garage extension would be a more suitable alternative. 
 
The Planning Officer confirmed that there were no technical objections to 
refuse the application. 
 
During the ensuing debate, some Members felt that following the site visit 
none of the properties looked the same and that there were other windows in 
properties within the street at a similar distance and that the proposed 
development sat further away than the property at Number 2, the extension 
did not protrude and they did not consider it to be overlooking 
 
Upon being put to the vote it was, unanimously:- 
 
RESOLVED – that in respect of Planning Application TWC/2019/0499 
that, had the application not been made the subject of an appeal, 
delegated authority would have been granted to the Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager to grant planning permission 
subject to the conditions set out in the report (with authority to finalise 
Conditions and reasons for approval to be delegated to Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager). 
 
PC29 TWC/2019/0504 - Land between Colliers Way & Park Lane, 

Old Park, Telford, Shropshire 
 
This was an outline application for up to 82 dwellings and associated access 
with all other matters reserved on land between Colliers Way & Park Lane, 
Old Park, Telford and was before Planning Committee as the Council were 
the applicant and it contained a Section 106 Agreement. 
 
An update report was tabled at the meeting which related to the Section 106 
Agreement and additional public comments. 
 
Councillor J Yorke spoke on behalf of Lawley & Overdale Parish Council who 
were not opposed to the principle of development but raised concerns 

Page 7



 

 

regarding the density, traffic management, access, the removal of the trees 
and hedgerow, parking, public right of way and the need to retain and 
increase pedestrian/cyclist access. 
 
Councillor M Boylan, Ward Councillor, raised concerns regarding the effect on 
the character and  amenity of the established village, the site being split due 
to mining, drainage, elevation, overlooking, the removal of the green buffer, 
wildlife and ecology, visibility, the need for a no through road, density and the 
development needed to remain in keeping with the existing properties. 
 
Ms S Thomas, a member of the public, spoke against the application on the 
grounds that it was a “green oasis” near to the town centre, there were 
concerns regarding density, against Policy BE1, design criteria, proposed 
parking arrangements, loss of trees which was contrary to Policy NE1 and 
NE2 and the need to retain the tree buffer. 
 
The Planning Officer reminded Members that this application was to establish 
the principle of development and access and all other matters were reserved.  
This was an allocated development site within the Local Plan and the principle 
had long since been established.  The concerns regarding density had been 
noted but was typical by modern standards and included a mix of units and 
appropriate plots sizes.   There would be two vehicular access points from 
Colliers Way but no vehicular through access to Park Lane =.  A S106 
Agreement would secure contributions towards network upgrades and traffic 
management along Colliers Way.   
 
During the ensuing debate, some Members felt that there was no reason to 
refuse the application but would be more comfortable with a reduction in 
number of units and welcomed the 25% affordable housing.  Other Members 
felt that the density was lower than average and that the recreation 
contribution needed to be spent within the surrounding area and raised 
concerns regarding the parking and the attenuation pond.   
 
Upon being put to the vote it was, unanimously:- 
 
RESOLVED – that delegated authority be granted to the Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager to grant outline planning 
permission subject to the following: 
 

a) the applicant/landowners entering into a S106 legal agreement 
with the Local Planning Authority (subject to indexation from the 
date of committee with terms to be agreed by the Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager) relating to 

 
i) Education contribution of £370,676.00  
ii) Highways contribution of £79,620.65  
iii) Children’s Play/Recreation contribution of up to maximum 

of £49,299.00 
iv) Ecology contribution of £8,500.00 towards management of 

habitat and species mitigation area  

Page 8



 

 

v) Affordable Housing to be provided at 25% 
 

b) The conditions contained in the report (with authority to finalise 
conditions and reasons for approval to be delegated to 
Development Management Service Delivery Manager). 

 
PC30 TWC/2019/0635 - 9 Belgrave Crescent, Stirchley, Telford, 

Shropshire TF3 1BJ 
 
Planning Application TWC/2019/0635 9 Belgrave Crescent, Stirchley, Telford 
would be dealt with alongside TWC/2019/0499 as these applications were 
comparable in their nature.  Application TWC/2019/0499 was subject to an 
Appeal for non-determination. 
 
The decision regarding each application would be made individually. 
 
A site visit took place on the afternoon prior to the meeting. 
 
Councillor R Breeze spoke against the application on behalf of Stirchley & 
Brookside Parish Council who raised concerns regarding overdevelopment 
and it was not in keeping with the nature of the local properties and that their 
objections remained the same as they had done from the previous meeting, 
although they were sympathetic to the needs of the family. 
 
Councillor A England, Ward Councillor, reiterated his concerns from the 
previous meeting which included the detrimental effect on the quiet and 
attractive cul-de-sac, against planning criteria, overlooking and loss of privacy, 
overbearing and unsympathetic development which detracted from the street 
scene and which would set a precedent for future development. 
 
Mr R Davies, a member of the public, spoke against the application on behalf 
of local residents and raised concerns regarding the impact on privacy, 
contrary to Policy BE1 and BE2, overbearing, not sympathetic to the street 
scene, unacceptable precedent for future development and that a rear or 
garage extension would be a more suitable alternative. 
 
The Planning Officer confirmed that there were no technical objections to 
refuse the application. 
 
During the ensuing debate, some Members felt that following the site visit 
none of the properties looked the same and that there were other windows in 
properties within the street at a similar distance and that the proposed 
development sat further away than the property at Number 2, the extension 
did not protrude and they did not consider it to be overlooking  
 
Upon being put to the vote it was, unanimously:- 
 
RESOLVED – that in respect of Planning Application TWC/2019/0635 that 
delegated authority be granted to the Development Management Service 
Delivery Manager to grant planning permission subject to the conditions 

Page 9



 

 

set out in the report (with authority to finalise Conditions and reasons 
for approval to be delegated to Development Management Service 
Delivery Manager). 
 
The meeting ended at 8.26 pm 

 
Chairman:   

 
Date: 

 
Wednesday, 23 October 2019 

 

Page 10



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS  

 

The Background Papers taken into account when considering planning applications 
on this list include all or some of the following items.  Items 1 to 4 are included on the 
file for each individual application. 
 
1. Application:  includes the application form, certificate under Section 65 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act, 1990, plans, and any further supporting 
information submitted with the application. 

 
2. Further correspondence with applicant: includes any amendments to the 

application – including any letters to the applicant/agent with respect to the 
application and any further correspondence submitted by the applicant/agent, 
together with any revised details and/or plans. 

 
3. Letters from Statutory Bodies:  includes any relevant letters to and from the 

Parish Councils, Departments of Telford & Wrekin Council, Water Authorities 
and other public bodies and societies.  

 
4. Letters from Private Individuals:  includes any relevant letters to and from 

members of the public with respect to the application, unless the writers have 
asked that their views are not reported publicly. 

 
5. Statutory Plans and Informal Policy Documents:  some or all of the following 

documents will comprise general background papers taken into account in 
considering planning applications in the administrative area of Telford and 
Wrekin (“Telford and Wrekin”) 

 
a)  Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 11th January 2018) 

including any Neighbourhood Plans 
b)  Telford and Wrekin Supplementary Planning Documents:  

 Design for Community Safety SPD (adopted June 2008);  

 Telecommunications Development SPD (adopted May 2009); and  

 Shop Fronts, Signage and Design Guidance in Conservation Areas 
SPD (adopted April 2012) 

c) Government Planning Guidance – National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), Planning Practice Guidance and Circulars 

d) Town and Country Planning legislation, case law and other planning 
decisions and articles 

 
 
6. Past decision notices and reports referred to in specific reports. 
 
7. The following additional documents (if appropriate):-  

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2016/0553  
Land East of Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge, Telford, Shropshire 
Erection of 1no. detached dwelling  
 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
Mrs Pettit 24/06/2016 
 
PARISH WARD 
The Gorge Ironbridge Gorge 
 
THE GORGE PARISH COUNCIL HAVE OBJECTED AND REQUESTED THAT 
THIS APPLICATION IS DETERMINED BY MEMBERS OF THE PLANNING 
COMMITTEE 
 
 
1. APPLICATION DETAILS 

 

1.1 This is a full application for the erection of a two storey, four bed, dwelling to 

the east of Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge accessed via an existing access 

off Severn Terrace permitted under W2008/0441.  

 

1.2 The LPA are also in receipt of TWC/2016/0554 for demolition of the existing 

dwelling ‘Loadcroft’ and erection of a replacement dwelling and 

TWC/2016/0555 for the erection of a further dwelling off New Road.   

 

1.3 The proposed dwelling has an internal gross floor area of 180m2, an external 

footprint of 100 m2 and is set within a site extending to 0.2hectares. 

 

1.4 The height of the proposed eaves is 5.0m with a proposed ridge height of 

8.55m.   

 

1.5 Details of the parking and turning areas would be conditioned for approval 

although in principle there is sufficient space for the parking and turning of the 

number of vehicles associated with a 4 bed dwelling.   

 

1.6 The existing hawthorn hedge and stone boundary retaining wall along Severn 

Terrace would be retained with a new hedge planted along the southern and 

western boundaries to separate the site from the remainder of the land 

associated with Loadcroft.  

 

1.7 The application is supported by the following:  

- Heritage Statement,  

- Design and Access Statement,  

- Ecology Report,  

- Tree Survey,  

- Stability Report Declaration Form,  

Page 13

Agenda Item 6a



 

 

 

- Ground Investigation Report,  

- Coal Mining Risk Assessment.  

 

1.8 Amended drawings relating to the proposed junction improvements on Lincoln 

Hill / Severn Terrace were received on the 26th February 2018 together with 

amended floor and elevation plans providing a different design than that 

proposed on the two sister applications.  

     

2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS  

 

2.1 The application site is located within the built up area of Telford and Wrekin, 

within The UNESCO Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site and Severn Gorge 

Conservation Area. There are a number of Listed Buildings bordering the site 

to the east, south and south-west. The site is located in an elevated position 

on land to the east of ‘Loadcroft’ visible from New Road to the south.   

 

2.2 ‘Loadcroft’ is a mid-20th century bungalow which has no historic or 

architectural merit. The site is located on a lawned area which forms part of 

the garden to ‘Loadcroft’.  

 

2.3 The site is located within Stability Zone 4 where ground movement imposes 

significant constraints.  

 

2.4 Existing public foul and surface water sewers runs through the site from 

Severn Terrace to the north, down to New Road to the south. The proposed is 

located to the east of these providing the requisite easement.    

 

3. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

3.1 W2003/0046 - Erection of 3 detached dwellings with attached/detached 

double garages and construction of new vehicular/pedestrian accesses with 

alterations to existing – WITHDRAWN due to Ground Investigation Report not 

being submitted and substantial time having passed since request. 

 

3.2 W2003/0047 – Demolition of existing dwelling – WITHDRAWN 

 

3.3 W2008/0441 - Erection Of Boundary Railings And Installation Of New 

Vehicular Access And Decking And Fencing And Replacement Window (Part 

Retrospective) – FULL GRANTED 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



 

 

 

Current Applications on remainder of site   

 

3.4 TWC/2016/0554 – Erection of replacement dwelling, following demolition of 

existing dwelling (Loadcroft) utilising existing access off Lincoln Hill – Pending 

Consideration.  

3.5 TWC/2016/0555 - Erection of 1no. detached dwelling accessed off New Road 

- Pending Consideration. 

 
4. PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT 

 

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 
4.2 Telford and Wrekin Local Plan (2011-2031) 

SP1 Telford 

SP4 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

NE1 Biodiversity and geodiversity  

C3 Implications of development on highways 

C5  Design of parking  

BE1  Design Criteria 

BE3 Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site 

BE5 Conservation Areas 

BE9 Land stability  

ER11  Sewerage systems and water quality  

 
5. SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

 
Standard consultation responses 

 

5.1 The Gorge Parish Council: Object  

- On the basis of Land Stability and voids; 

- Considered that receipt of an updated report has no bearing on the 

previous comments made by TGPC in 2016 which are summarised as 

follows: 

- Concerns that ground instability can be foreseen and building on 

ground with such likely issues is not usually recommended and that 

some risk of continual long-term damage could occur; 

- Request that advice is sought from Council’s Geotechnical Engineer. 

 

5.2 Cllr Carolyn Healy (Ward Cllr): No comment 

 

5.3 Cllr Nicola Lowery (former Ward Cllr): Object 

- Comments submitted 11/09/2016 concerned that significant 

engineering works will be required, given the sites location within Zone 

4 of the high Point Rendall Stability Study; 

Page 15



 

 

 

- Preservation of Reynolds tunnel requested as a heritage asset; 

- Infrastructure and highways networks have no further capacity to 

accommodate additional traffic generated by this development; 

- The design of all three dwellings (TWC/2016/0553, 0554 and 0555) are 

not in-keeping and identical which is not appropriate (N.B. comments 

based on earlier design); 

- The site provides enhancement and visual relied within the UNESCO 

World Heritage Site.  

 

5.4 Built Heritage Conservation: No objection subject to conditions 

- Sample panel brickwork, 
- Sections of joinery (timber), ironmongery 
 

5.5 Archaeology: No comment 

 

5.6 Highways: No objection subject to conditions 
- Provision of car parking prior to occupation,  
- Submission of detailed design for highway improvement works to the 

junction of Lincoln Hill and Severn Terrace.   
 
5.7 Drainage: Support subject to conditions 

- Scheme of foul and surface water drainage, 

- Evidence of a build over or easement agreement with Severn Trent   

 

5.8 Arboriculture: No comment 

 

5.9 Ecology: Support subject to conditions.   
- Erection of artificial nesting/roosting boxes,  
- Lighting Plan,  
- Informatives – Nesting Wild Birds and Trenches/Pipework 

 

5.10 Geotechs: No objection subject to conditions.  

- Approach set out by applicants Geotechnical Consultant (02 August 

2019) satisfies any concerns; 

- Para 177 and 178 of the NPPF sets out applicants responsibility to 

secure a safe development. Bi-annual checks of the tunnel are 

recommended. 

 

5.11 The Coal Authority: No objection 

- Submission of Coal Mining Risk Assessment; the content and 

conclusions of which are sufficient for the purposes of the planning 

system in demonstrating that the application site is safe and stable for 

the proposed development.  

 

5.12 Severn Trent Water: No  objection subject to conditions: 

Page 16



 

 

 

- Scheme of foul and surface water drainage, 

- Evidence of a build over or easement agreement with Severn Trent  

 

5.13 Shropshire Fire Service: Standard Fire Informative 

 

5.14 West Mercia Police: Standard Informative advocating Secured By Design 

 

Neighbour consultation responses 
 
5.15 Neighbouring occupiers were consulted upon receipt of the application with 

five letters of objection received. No further letters were received following a 

re-consultation of the revised plans and supporting documentation. The letters 

raised the following material planning considerations:  

 

- Instability of the Gorge in relation to the effect plant machinery might 

have on the structure of the landscape; 

- Inappropriate design in a World Heritage Site (based on previous 2016 

designs); 

- Drainage capacity and increased in rainwater run-off; 

- In close proximity to disused mine shaft; 

- Adjacent listed buildings; 

- Highways safety risk 

 
6. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 

6.1 Having regard to the development plan policy and other material 

considerations including comments received during the consultation process, 

the main planning considerations are: 

 

- The principle of residential development 

- The impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area 

World Heritage Site; 

- Impact on neighbouring amenities; 

- Drainage and flooding 

- Slope Stability  

- Highways 

- Ecology  

 

6.2 The principle of residential development 

 

6.2.1 The site is located within the Telford built up area where the principle of 

new build residential development is acceptable. The site does not have 

any other designation such as Green Network requiring special 

justification.  

Page 17



 

 

 

6.2.2 The impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area 
and World Heritage Site are considered minimal. The proposed dwelling is 
a traditional and characterful cottage design as expected in the Gorge. 
The development utilises an existing access and retains the mix of 
hard/soft landscaping along Severn Terrace. Timber joinery and all other 
materials are to be conditioned.  

 
6.2.3 Planning law and planning policy both require that special attention is paid 

to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and 

appearance of Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings.  

 

6.2.4 The site falls within the Severn Gorge Conservation Area and is visible 

from Severn Terrace to the north and potentially New Road to the south. It 

is unlikely to be visible from The Wharfage but it nevertheless does sit 

within The Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage site which is of international 

importance albeit it would not be visible from the Ironbridge itself. 

 

6.2.5 In principle, the siting of a proposed dwelling in this location is acceptable 

in planning policy terms, and the design submitted is considered 

appropriate in the Gorge.  

 

6.3 Impact on neighbouring amenities  

 

6.3.1 The application site lies to the east of an existing residential property 

known as ‘Loadcroft’ and will be positioned side on to this property with a 

minimum distance of 36.2m and a single window located at first floor. As 

such, the proposed will not result in any loss of privacy or overbearing 

impact.  

 

6.3.2 Occupants of the neighbouring properties to the east (Severn Terrace) 

raised concerns, albeit not directly relating to amenity. However for the 

purposes of clarity, the proposed dwelling will again be positioned side on 

to these existing properties with no first floor windows. The side elevation 

of 1 Severn Terrace is located 32m from the side elevation of the 

proposed dwelling.   

 

6.3.3 As such it is considered that the scheme preserves neighbouring amenity.  

 

6.4 Drainage and flooding 

 

6.4.1 A public foul and a public surface water sewer run through the middle of 

the development site. We advise that the developer contact Severn Trent 

Water as soon as possible to discuss suitable development easements for 

these sewers. 

 

Page 18



 

 

 

6.4.2 Accordingly, subject to compliance with the proposed conditions the site is 

capable of development without resulting in flood risk.   

 

6.5 Slope Stability  

 

6.5.1 The site is located in Stability Zone 4. In addition, Reynolds runnel crosses 

the southern part of the field below the development plots. The tunnel is a 

single skinned brick lined linear void approximately 2m in height which can 

be accessed immediately to the west of the site (with permission). It is 

imperative therefore that the loadings from the development are designed 

to not cause local shallow stability issues which trigger a landslide. 

 

6.5.2  Ongoing discussions have been held between the applicants agent and 

Geotechnical Consultant with the Councils Geotechnical Engineer further 

investigations were undertaken and it was confirmed by the applicant that 

were the tunnel ever to collapse, it would be unlikely to trigger any large 

scale movement and only result in a depression of 100mm deep at the 

surface. As the proposed dwelling is located 15m away from the tunnel it is 

considered to be outside the zone of influence.  

 

6.5.3 Precautionary measures have been suggested in the form of bi-annual 

inspections looking at potential collapse and signs of structural damage.  

 

6.5.4 The Council’s Geotechnical Engineer has confirmed that they are satisfied 

with the recent submissions (Letter from H. S. Lister received 02 August 

2019) and the proposed precautionary measures. 

 

6.5.5 It is considered that the investigations and measures proposed are 

acceptable to the local authority and are also in accordance with 

paragraphs 178 and 179 of the NPPF where responsibility for securing a 

safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner.  

 

6.6 Highways 

 

6.6.1 The scheme will utilise the existing vehicular access from Severn Terrace 

and as such, in principle, vehicular access into the site is acceptable. 

However, there are existing issues with regards to the road condition at 

the junction of Lincoln Hill and Severn Terrace. The surfacing at the 

junction is in poor condition, which is further exacerbated by level 

differences at the north of the junction, with potential for vehicles to 

become grounded. It is therefore deemed that, as the above proposals will 

result in an intensification of use of the access, a scheme of highway 

improvement works to this junction are required as part of this application. 

6.6.2 The site makes adequate provision for the parking and turning vehicles of 

Page 19



 

 

 

using an existing car parking area suitable for 2-3 vehicles.  

 

6.6.3 As such, subject to conditions, it is considered that the site can be safely 

accessed providing sufficient parking and turning allowing vehicles to 

leave in a forward gear and avoiding any off-street parking.  

 

6.7 Ecology  

 

6.7.1 The application has been submitted with an Ecological Assessment. This 

has been assessed by the Council’s Ecologist who has no objection 

subject to conditions and informative(s) as it is possible to conclude that 

there is no reasonable likelihood that the proposal will cause harm to 

protected species.  

 

7. CONCLUSIONS  

 

7.1 In conclusion, the principle of residential development on this site within the 

built up area is acceptable. The amended design is acceptable and will 

preserve and enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation 

Area and World Heritage Site. The proposal will preserve neighbouring 

amenity, and can be adequately drained without resulting in any additional 

flood risk. The site can be developed without causing any slope stability 

issues and can be safely accessed with sufficient parking and turning. The 

proposal can be implemented without any impact on protected species. 

Accordingly the proposal complies with the policies outlined above 

including national guidance contained within the NPPF. 

 
8. RECOMMENDATION 

 

Based on the conclusions above, it is recommended to GRANT PLANNING 
PERMISSION subject to the following conditions: 

 

A04  Time Limit Full 
B017  Samples of materials 
B018  Sample Brick Panel 
B019aCustom Details of Doors and Windows (no section required) 
B029  Eaves/roof verge detail 
B029  Rain3water goods – metal/black 
B029  External sewage/drainage 
B121  Landscaping 
B061  Scheme for foul & surface water drainage 
C012  Car Parking 
C039  Development in accordance with plan Nos. 
C100/101 Erection of artificial nesting/roosting bat & bird boxes 
D01  Removal of all permitted development 
C020Custom Highways improvements to Lincoln Hill/Severn Terrace highway      

Page 20



 

 

 

  improvement works 
RACustom Evidence of build-over/easement agreement with Severn Trent 
RACustom Lighting Plan 
 
Informatives 
 
 I25b  Nesting Bird (construction) 
 I25e  Trenches 
 I40  Conditions 
 I41   Reason for Grant 
 RANPPF2 Approval - National Planning Policy Framework. 
. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2016/0554  
Site of Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge, Telford, Shropshire 
Erection of replacement dwelling following demolition of existing dwelling 'Loadcroft', 
utilising existing access off Lincoln Hill ## AMENDED PLANS ## AMENDED 
DESCRIPTION ##  
 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
Mrs Pettit 24/06/2016 
 
PARISH WARD 
The Gorge Ironbridge Gorge 
 
THE GORGE PARISH COUNCIL HAVE OBJECTED AND REQUESTED THAT 
THIS APPLICATION IS DETERMINED BY MEMBERS OF THE PLANNING 
COMMITTEE 
 
 
1. APPLICATION DETAILS 

 

1.1 This is a full application for the erection of a two storey, four bed, dwelling on 

the site of the existing property (‘Loadcroft’) off Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge. This 

proposed dwelling will replace the existing property (Loadcroft) and utilise the 

same existing access off Lincoln Hill. 

 

1.2 The LPA are also in receipt of TWC/2016/0553 for the erection of 1no 

dwelling off Severn Terrace and TWC/2016/0555 for the erection of a further 

dwelling off New Road.   

 

1.3 The proposed dwelling has an internal gross floor area of approximately 

180m2, an external footprint of approximately 100 m2 and is set within a site 

extending to 0.2hectares. 

 

1.4 The height of the proposed dwellings eaves is 5.0m with a proposed ridge 

height of 8.50m.  The existing dwelling is a modest single storey two-bedroom 

bungalow.  

 

1.5 The dwelling will utilise the existing access and car parking off Lincoln Hill; no 

proposed alterations have been put forward or considered necessary by the 

Highways Authority.  

 

1.6 The proposed dwelling will lie on the site of the existing dwelling, with a similar 

footprint.  

 

1.7 The existing hawthorn hedge (west) and stone boundary retaining wall and 

railings along Lincoln Hill will be retained, with a new native hedgerow planted 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6b



 

 

 

on the eastern and southern boundaries to separate the site from the 

remainder of the land associated with Loadcroft.  

 

1.8 The application is supported by the following:  

- Heritage Statement,  

- Design and Access Statement,  

- Ecology Report,  

- Tree Report,  

- Stability Report Declaration Form,  

- Ground Investigation Report,  

- Coal Mining Risk Assessment; 

- Mining Report 

 

1.9 Supplementary information was supplied by Ground Investigation Specialists 

Limited was submitted on the 2nd August 2018. 

     

2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS  

 

2.1 The application site is located within the built up area of Telford, within The 

UNESCO Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site and Severn Gorge 

Conservation Area. There are a number of Listed Buildings bordering the site 

to the east, south and south-west. The site is located in an elevated position 

on the site of ‘Loadcroft’ visible from New Road to the south.   

 

2.2 ‘Loadcroft’ is a mid-20th century bungalow which has no historic or 

architectural merit.  

 

2.3 The site is located within Stability Zone 4 where ground movement imposes 

significant constraints.  

 

2.4 Existing public foul and surface water sewers runs through the site from 

Severn Terrace to the north, down to New Road to the south. The proposed 

dwelling is located to the west of these, on the site of the existing dwelling, 

therefore providing the requisite easement.    

 

3. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

3.1 W2003/0046 - Erection of 3 detached dwellings with attached/detached 

double garages and construction of new vehicular/pedestrian accesses with 

alterations to existing – WITHDRAWN due to Ground Investigation Report not 

being submitted and substantial time having passed since request. 

 

3.2 W2003/0047 – Demolition of existing dwelling – WITHDRAWN 

 

Page 36



 

 

 

3.3 W2008/0441 - Erection Of Boundary Railings And Installation Of New 

Vehicular Access And Decking And Fencing And Replacement Window (Part 

Retrospective) – FULL GRANTED 

 

Current Applications on remainder of site   

 

3.4 TWC/2016/0553 – Erection of1 no dwelling accessed off Severn Terrace – 

Pending Consideration.  

 

3.5 TWC/2016/0555 - Erection of 1no. detached dwelling accessed off New Road 

- Pending Consideration. 

 
4. PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT 

 

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 
4.2 Telford and Wrekin Local Plan (2011-2031) 

SP1 Telford 

SP4 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

NE1 Biodiversity and geodiversity  

C3 Implications of development on highways 

C5  Design of parking  

BE1  Design Criteria 

BE3 Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site 

BE5 Conservation Areas 

BE9 Land stability  

ER11  Sewerage systems and water quality  

 
5. SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

 
Standard consultation responses 

 

5.1 The Gorge Parish Council: Object  

- No objection to replace the existing property providing evidence the 

ground is assessed as being able to support the extra load. Do not 

consider that additional information has been supplied that relates to 

this building; 

- Would support if load was no greater than that of existing bungalow, 

otherwise application to be called in to Committee; 

- Informative regarding asbestos removal during demolition. 

 

5.2 Cllr Carolyn Healy (Ward Member): No comment 

 

 

Page 37



 

 

 

5.3 Cllr Nicola Lowery (former Ward Member): Object 

- Comments submitted 11/09/2016 (for all 3 associated applications) 

concerned that significant engineering works will be required, given the 

sites location within Zone 4 of the high Point Rendall Stability Study; 

- Preservation of Reynolds tunnel requested as a heritage asset; 

- Infrastructure and highways networks have no further capacity to 

accommodate additional traffic generated by this development; 

- The design of all three dwellings (TWC/2016/0553, 0554 and 0555) are 

not in-keeping and identical which is not appropriate (N.B. comments 

based on earlier design); 

- The site provides enhancement and visual relief within the UNESCO 

World Heritage Site.  

 

5.4 Built Heritage Conservation: No objection subject to conditions 

- Sample panel brickwork; 
- Sections of joinery (timber not upvc), ironmongery; 
- Rainwater goods; 
- External sewage/drainage details; 

           - Landscaping 
 

5.5 Archaeology: No comment 

 

5.6 Highways: No objection 
 
5.7 Drainage: Support subject to conditions 

- Scheme of foul and surface water drainage, 

- Evidence of a build over or easement agreement with Severn Trent 

 

5.8 Arboriculture: No comment 

 

5.9 Ecology: Support subject to conditions.   
- Erection of artificial nesting/roosting boxes,  
- Lighting Plan,  
- Informatives – Nesting Wild Birds and Trenches/Pipework 

 

5.10 Geotechs: No objection subject to conditions.  

- Approach set out by applicants Geotechnical Consultant (received 02 

August 2019) satisfies any concerns; 

- Para 177 and 178 of the NPPF sets out applicants responsibility to 

secure a safe development. Bi-annual checks of the tunnel are 

recommended. 

 

5.11 The Coal Authority: No objection 

- Submission of Coal Mining Risk Assessment; the content and 

conclusions of which are sufficient for the purposes of the planning 

Page 38



 

 

 

system in demonstrating that the application site is safe and stable for 

the proposed development.  

 

5.12 Severn Trent Water: No  objection subject to conditions: 
- Scheme of foul and surface water drainage, 

- Evidence of a build over or easement agreement with Severn Trent  

 

5.13 Shropshire Fire Service: Standard Fire Informative 

 

5.14 West Mercia Police: Standard Informative advocating Secured By Design 

 

Neighbour consultation responses 
 
5.15 Neighbouring occupiers were consulted upon receipt of the application with 

five letters of objection received. No further letters were received following a 

re-consultation of the revised plans and supporting documentation. The letters 

raised the following material planning considerations:  

 

- Instability of the Gorge in relation to the effect plant machinery might 

have on the structure of the landscape; 

- Inappropriate design in a World Heritage Site; 

- Drainage capacity and increased in rainwater run-off; 

- In close proximity to disused mine shaft; 

- Adjacent listed buildings; 

- Highways safety risk. 

 
6. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 

6.1 Having regard to the development plan and other material considerations 

including comments received during the consultation process, the main 

planning considerations are: 

 

- The principle of residential development 

- The impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area 

and World Heritage Site; 

- Impact on neighbouring amenities; 

- Drainage and flooding 

- Slope Stability  

- Highways 

- Ecology  

 

6.2 The principle of residential development 

 

6.2.1 The site is located within the Telford built up area where the principle of 

Page 39



 

 

 

new build residential development is acceptable. The site does not have 

any other designation such as Green Network requiring special 

justification.  

 

6.2.2 The impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area 
and World Heritage Site are considered minimal. The proposed dwelling is 
a traditional and characterful cottage design as expected in the Gorge. 
The development utilises an existing access and retains the mix of 
hard/soft landscaping along Severn Terrace. Timber joinery and all other 
materials are to be conditioned.  

 
6.2.3 Planning law and planning policy both require that special attention is paid 

to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and 

appearance of Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings.  

 

6.2.4 The site falls within the Severn Gorge Conservation Area and is visible 

from Severn Terrace to the north and potentially New Road to the south. It 

is unlikely to be visible from The Wharfage but it nevertheless does sit 

within The Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage site which is of international 

importance albeit it would not be visible from the Ironbridge itself. 

 

6.2.5 In principle, the siting of a proposed dwelling in this location is acceptable 

in planning policy terms, and the design submitted is considered 

appropriate in the Gorge.  

 

6.2.6 The property will replace an existing substandard property and will 

therefore not result in an increase in housing numbers.  

 

6.3 Impact on neighbouring amenities  

 

6.3.1 The proposed dwelling will be situated on the site of an existing residential 

property known as ‘Loadcroft’. Whilst the proposed dwelling is two-storey 

and the existing single-storey, it will be positioned in excess of 33 metres 

from the closest neighbouring properties. As such, the proposal will not 

result in any loss of privacy or overbearing impact.  

 

6.3.2 As such it is considered that the scheme preserves neighbouring amenity.  

 

6.4 Drainage and flooding 

 

6.4.1 A public foul and a public surface water sewer run adjacent to the site. We 

advise that the developer contact Severn Trent Water as soon as possible 

to discuss suitable development easements for these sewers, to ensure no 

difficulties during construction. 

 

Page 40



 

 

 

6.4.2 Accordingly, subject to compliance with the proposed conditions the site is 

capable of development without resulting in flood risk.   

 

6.5 Slope Stability  

 

6.5.1 The site is located in Stability Zone 4. In addition, Reynolds Tunnel 

crosses the southern part of the field below the development plots. The 

tunnel is a single skinned brick lined linear void approximately 2m in 

height. It is imperative therefore that the loadings from the development 

are designed to not cause local shallow stability issues which trigger a 

landslide. 

 

6.5.2 Ongoing discussions have been held between the applicants agent and 

Geotechnical Consultant with the Council’s Geotechnical Engineer further 

investigations were undertaken and it was confirmed by the Geotechnical 

Consultant that were the tunnel ever to collapse, it would be unlikely to 

trigger any large scale movement and only result in a depression of 

100mm deep at the surface. As the proposed dwelling is located in excess 

of 15m away from the tunnel it is considered to be outside the zone of 

influence.  

 

6.5.3 Precautionary measures have been suggested in the form of bi-annual 

inspections looking at potential collapse and signs of structural damage.  

 

6.5.4 The Council’s Geotechnical Engineer has confirmed that they are satisfied 

with the recent submissions (Letter from H. S. Lister received 02 August 

2019) and the proposed precautionary measures. 

 

6.5.5 It is considered that the investigations and measures proposed are 

acceptable to the local authority and are also in accordance with 

paragraphs 178 and 179 of the NPPF where responsibility for securing a 

safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner.  

 
6.6 Highways 

6.6.1 The scheme will utilise the existing vehicular access and car parking area 

off Lincoln Hill and as such, vehicular access into the site is unaffected 

and acceptable.  

6.6.2 The site makes adequate provision for the parking and turning vehicles of 

using an existing car parking area suitable for 2-3 vehicles.  

 
6.7 Ecology  

 

6.7.1 The application has been submitted with an Ecological Assessment. This 

has been assessed by the Council’s Ecologist who has no objection 

Page 41



 

 

 

subject to conditions and informative(s) as it is possible to conclude that 

there is no reasonable likelihood that the proposal will cause harm to 

protected species.  

 

7. CONCLUSIONS  

 

7.1 In conclusion, the principle of residential development on this site within the 

built up area is acceptable. The amended design is acceptable and will 

preserve and enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation 

Area and World Heritage Site. The proposal will preserve neighbouring 

amenity, and can be adequately drained without resulting in any additional 

flood risk. The site can be developed without causing any slope stability 

issues and can be safely accessed with sufficient parking and turning. The 

proposal can be implemented without any impact on protected species. 

Accordingly the proposal complies with the policies outlined above 

including national guidance contained within the NPPF. 

 
8. RECOMMENDATION 

 
Based on the conclusions above, it is recommended to GRANT PLANNING 
PERMISSION subject to the following conditions: 

 

A04  Time Limit Full 
B017  Samples of materials 
B018  Sample Brick Panel 
B019aCustom Details of Doors and Windows  
B029  Eaves/roof verge detail 
B029  Rainwater goods – metal/black 
B029  External sewage/drainage 
B121  Landscaping 
B061  Scheme for foul & surface water drainage 
C038  Development in accordance with plan Nos. 
C100/101 Erection of artificial nesting/roosting bat & bird boxes 
D01  Removal of all permitted development 
RRCustom Evidence of build-over/easement agreement with Severn Trent 
 
Informatives 
 
 I25b  Nesting Bird (construction) 
 I25e  Trenches 
 I40  Conditions 
 I41   Reason for Grant 
 RANPPF2 Approval - National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 

Page 42



Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2019/0133  
Recycling House, Rock Road, Ketley, Telford, Shropshire, TF1 5HW 
Variation of condition 10 (hours of operation), Condition 16 (clarification of type of 
waste quantity) and Condition 17 (vehicle movements) of planning permission 
TWC/2017/0882 **Amended Description**  
 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
Johnsons Aggregates & Recycling Ltd,  Steve Johnson 11/02/2019 
 
PARISH WARD 
Ketley Ketley and Overdale 
 
THIS APPLICATION WAS DEFERRED AT PLANNING COMMITTEE ON 25 
SEPTEMBER 2019 TO ALLOW OFFICERS TO NEGOTIATE WITH THE 
APPLICANT IN RESPECT OF CONCERNS RELATING TO HOURS OF 
OPERATION AND HIGHWAY SAFETY 
 
1.0 DETAILS OF CONCERNS RAISED  

 
1.1 This application was heard at a previous planning committee meeting on 25 

September 2019, whereby it was agreed by Members that the application 
would be deferred to allow Officers to negotiate with the applicant. Members 
raised concerns in respect of the Hours of Operation and Highway Safety.  

 
2.0 NEIGHBOUR & STATUTORY CONSULTATIONS 

2.1 No re-consultation has taken place and no additional representations have 
been received since the outcome of the previous Committee. 

 
3.0 NEGOTIATIONS 
  
3.1 The applicant has indicated that they are amenable to withdrawing the 

request to amend the Hours of Operation Condition on the basis of agreement 
to the proposed increase in throughput to 200,000 TPA. The original request 
was to allow up to 10No. pre-loaded HGV’s to leave the site between 0600 
and 0700 Monday to Friday. The existing consent on this site which would 
remain allows site operations to commence at 0700 and 1900 on weekdays 
and between 0700 and 1600 on Saturdays. 

  
4.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
4.1 The main planning considerations in respect of this Variation of Condition(s) 

Application are highway safety and the impact upon the amenities of nearby 
residents. As discussed in the original report, the application site has an 
existing unimplemented planning consent that allows the site to process IBA 
Waste along with relevant Condition(s) controlling the tonnage of material 
allowed through the site, the Hours of Operation and a Condition controlling 
the number of HGV movements allowed in and out of the site. 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6c



 

 

 

4.2 As a point of clarification, the increased tonnage requested is largely as a 
result of the weight of materials to be processed at the site and does not 
necessitate that there will be more waste, noting that IBA waste is a lot 
heavier than materials previously processed at the site such as plastic. So as 
an example, a HGV full of IBA Waste is likely to be considerably heavier than 
a HGV full of plastic material. The weight of IBA is further increased by the 
addition of water which dampens the materials to both cool it and to prevent 
dust. 

 
Highway Safety 

 
4.3 Members will recall that through previous negotiations with the applicant, an 

amendment to Condition 17 was agreed that effectively reduces the number 
of HGV’s allowed in and out of the site by 200 movements per week. 
Furthermore, the applicant remains agreeable to provide contributions 
towards highways maintenance in the vicinity of the site and towards a VAS 
system either end of the junction. 

 
4.4 In addition, the Highways Officer has requested an additional condition which 

would prevent HGV’s leaving the site around school opening and closing 
times. It should be noted that the applicant does not consider this condition 
acceptable and has stated that such a limit would be likely to cause significant 
operational impacts and lead to health and safety concerns with HGVs 
backing up within the site. Officers disagree and consider that such a limit is 
necessary to avoid HGV’s leaving the site during these busier periods on the 
local highway network. However, Officers acknowledge the applicants 
indication that this may cause operational issues within the site and have 
therefore slightly amended the suggested condition to be more in line with the 
registration and closing times of the two nearby schools. Instead of the hour 
long slots previously suggested, this reduces the periods to 40-minute slots in 
the morning in the afternoon whereby HGV’s should not exit the site. 

 
4.5 The Highways Officer has raised no technical objections on grounds of 

highway safety subject to the proposed Condition(s) and Contributions.  
 
4.6 The existing planning consents remain a material planning consideration. 

Within these consents there is an existing condition which allows up to 50 
HGV movements in and 50 movements out per day. Officers therefore remain 
of the view that this application represents a significant improvement to those 
previous consents that should be supported in accordance with the Local 
Plan. In addition to reducing the number of permitted HGV’s every week, this 
application has the additional benefits of contributions towards the installation 
of a VAS system and contributions towards highways maintenance. The fall-
back position is for the site to re-open under the existing consent which would 
allow another operator to use the site without providing any of these benefits. 

 
4.7 Officer’s consider that there are no grounds to recommend refusal of the 

application on Highway Safety especially given the reduction of HGV 
movements proposed and the proposed contributions that would be provided.  

 

Page 58



 

 

 

Impact upon the Amenities of Residents 
 
4.8 Members raised concerns that HGV’s leaving the site between 0600 and 0700 

would adversely affect the amenities of nearby residents by reasons of noise 
and vibrations at an unreasonable hour. The applicant has agreed to remove 
this request should the remainder of the application be approved. 

 
4.9 Officers remain satisfied that there are no other concerns relating to impact 

upon amenities that were not considered on the previously approved 
application. This includes the use of the site to process IBA Waste. 
Furthermore, the environmental impacts of the development are controlled 
through the Environment Agency Permit. 

 
5.0 CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 With the applicant agreeing to remove the request to Vary the Operating 

Hours Condition subject to Members agreement of the revised tonnage, 
Officers are satisfied that concerns relating to the impact upon neighbouring 
amenities have been overcome. 

 
5.2 Officers consider that, given the previous consent, the current application 

provides betterment in terms of highway safety. This includes the reduction in 
permitted HGV’s compared to the previous consents, the contributions 
towards a highway safety feature and highways maintenance, and the further 
proposed condition to prevent HGV’s leaving the site during peak school 
times. 

 
5.3 Further benefits arising from Approval include those already permitted by 

members in the most recent consent. This includes internal alterations to the 
site and site access. Furthermore, in order to comply with Condition(s) 
permitting these changes and the EA permit, the existing waste materials that 
remain on the site will be removed and hardstanding laid. 

 
5.4 Therefore, the proposal complies with the relevant Policies contained within 

the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan and in accordance with the NPPF should 
therefore be approved without delay. 

 
6.0  RECOMMENDATION 
 
6.1 Based on the conclusions above, the recommendation to the Planning 

Committee on this application is that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted 
to the Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT 
PLANNING PERMISSION to Vary Condition(s) 16 and 17 subject to the 
following: 
 
A) A contribution of £40,000 towards the installation and maintenance of a 

VAS system. The s.106 will contain a clause that any unspent money 
after this has been installed and maintenance sum + indexation has 
been deducted, will be returned to the applicant. 

 

Page 59



 

 

 

A contribution of £36,000 towards carriageway resurfacing along 
Waterloo Road in the vicinity of the site access. Contribution to be split 
into 3 phased payments of £12,000, the first payment being 12-months 
on from commencement of operations on site with a further two 
payments after another 12-months and 24-months respectively. 

 
B) The following additional Condition (with authority to finalise Conditions 

and reasons for approval to be delegated to Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager): 

 
1. During school term times at the adjacent Newdale and Meadows 

Primary Schools there shall be no HGV movements leaving the site 

during the hours of 0830-0910 and 14:50-1530. 

 
 
*****************************ORIGINAL COMMITTEE REPORT*************************** 
 
 
 
KETLEY PARISH COUNCIL AND LAWLEY AND OVERDALE PARISH COUNCIL 
HAVE REQUESTED THAT THIS APPLICATION IS DETERMINED BY MEMBERS 
OF PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS ARE ALSO SOUGHT TOWARDS THE 
INSTALLATION OF VECHICLE ACTIVATED SIGNAGE (VAS) AND TOWARDS 
ROAD RESURFACING WITHIN THE VICINITY OF THE SITE ACCESS ON 
WATERLOO ROAD 
 
1.0 SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION 

 
1.1  It is recommended that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to the 

Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT PLANNING 
PERMISSION for the Variation of Conditions 10, 16 and 17 subject to a s.106 
and additional Condition(s). 

 
2.0  SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1 The application site is located approximately 3kms north west of Telford Town 

Centre, accessed off Waterloo Road. The M54 runs along the sites southern 
boundary. 

 
2.2 The nearest residential properties are in Sinclair Gardens to the north of the 

site together with a Garden Centre which is located in-between.  Waterloo 
Road (and Rock Road as it becomes) serve several housing estates and 
Ketley Business Park, as well as linking to Old Park roundabout, and passing 
Newdale Primary School. Opposite the site is an area of land known as Hilltop 
Farm and is under the same ownership. A range of activities takes place on 
this site including skip and plant hire and sale of aggregates. 

  

Page 60



 

 

 

2.3 Wellings Limited have operated from the application site for the majority of the 
time since the first appeal decision in 1999. More recently, since about 2014, 
another operator occupied and traded plastic waste from the site and were in 
the process of amending the Appeal Conditions to apply to their operations.  
However, that company ceased trading from the site and have left their waste 
on site, which will need clearing away before the current applicant can 
operate. This position remains unchanged since the previous application was 
considered by planning committee in August 2018. 

 
 2.4 Within the site there is a small processing/workshop building, a large 

processing building, a two-storey office building, a weighbridge office, 
weighbridge, staff/visitor car park, and an area to the west at the ‘top’ of the 
site for the outside storage of waste and for vehicles to unload and 
manoeuvre. The site topography rises up to a higher ground level to the west 
of the site. There are some soil mounds/bunds around this area of the site. 
The interim operator, who has ceased trading and operating from the site and 
has left bales of unprocessed plastic waste on site, in the buildings and on the 
open area. 

  
2.5   The site is ‘white land’ in the adopted Local Plan so has no particular 

designation. A small slither of designated ‘Green Network’ lies between the 
southern site boundary and M54. The site is also located within the 250 metre 
buffer of a landfill site to the east and is in a High Risk Coal Mining Area. 

 
3.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 

 
Previous Consent 

 
3.1 In October 2017 the current Applicant, Johnsons Aggregates, submitted an 

application (TWC/2017/0882) to vary several Conditions on the existing 
consent for this site (W2005/0906). The proposed changes would allow this 
operator to run their particular type of waste recycling business from the site 
by processing Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA). As part of the proposal changes 
to the site layout were also proposed and included: 

 
- Demolition of the smaller processing/workshop shed; 
- Installation of a second weighbridge and then position both 

weighbridges further into the site to reduce traffic congestion for 
waiting vehicles entering/leaving the site; 

- Creation of an area in the north and western part of the site for 
vehicles to unload/load waste and a waste storage and 
quarantine area. 

 
3.2 In August 2018, the application was considered by Planning Committee with 

an Officer Recommendation to Support all but two of the Conditions sought 
for Variation. These were Condition 17 which limited the tonnage of materials 
allowed in to the site, and Condition 11 which restricts operating hours. 
Planning Committee resolved to grant the Variation of the remaining 
Conditions in accordance with the Officer Recommendation. 

Page 61



 

 

 

3.3 As a result of that decision, a new revised planning consent was created for 
the site which allows all the changes to the site mentioned above, including 
the processing type of waste (IBA) but remains limited to the amount of waste 
brought into the site (6,000 tonnes in any calendar month) and to the existing 
operation hours of between 0700 and 1900 on weekdays, and between 0700 
and 1600 on Saturdays, with no working or activities at all on the site on 
Sundays or Public Holidays. 

 
Current Application 

 
3.4 The current application has been submitted to again seek the variation of 

those conditions that remained un-amended previously. Due to a reordering of 
Condition numbers these are now Condition 10 (operating hours) and 16 
(weight of waste materials). Following negotiation with the application, it has 
also been agreed to Vary Condition 17 of the previous consent which relates 
to the number of vehicle movements allowed to and from the site. The 
Conditions and proposed changes are listed below: 

 
3.5 Vary Condition 10 - This conditions restricts operating house and currently 

reads as: 
   

‘The operations hereby permitted shall only be conducted between 0700 and 
1900 on weekdays, and between 0700 and 1600 on Saturdays, with no 
working or activities at all on the site on Sundays or Public Holidays. 
 
Reason: To protect the residential amenities of the surrounding area.’ 
 
The applicant seeks to vary the condition in order to allow up to 10 pre-loaded 
HGV’s that would be filled, parked and ready to go the previous day, to exit 
the site between the hours of 0600 and 0700 Monday to Friday inclusive. No 
other site operations would take place other than the drivers arriving. This is 
to allow the pre-loaded HGVs to leave the site to take recycled products to 
development sites where they are required for 0700 starts, in addition to 
avoiding early morning peak traffic. 
 
In addition to the above, it is also proposed to close the site two hours earlier 
on a Saturday with a closing time of 1400 (instead of 1600). 

 
3.6 Vary Condition 16 - This condition limits the amount of materials that can 

enter the site during any calendar month. The current condition reads as: 

‘Not more than 6,000 tonnes of waste materials shall be brought onto the site 
in any calendar month. Records of the amount of waste material received at 
the site shall be maintained and made available for inspection by the Local 
Planning Authority at all reasonable times. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenity of the area.’ 
 
The Applicant seeks to Vary Condition 16 to replace the monthly limit of 6,000 
tonnes per month with an annual limit of 200,000. This would be an effective 

Page 62



 

 

 

increase of 128,000 tonnes per year. This is due to the wet and dense nature 
of IBA that is to be recycled and is heavier than previous waste allowed into 
the site such as paper, plastic and general skip waste.  

 
3.7  Vary Condition 17 - This condition limited the number of movements per day 

into and out of the site. The current conditions reads as: 

‘There shall be no more than 50 heavy goods vehicle (over 7.5 tonnes gross 
vehicle weight) movements into the site and 50 heavy goods vehicle 
movements out of the site during any working day. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenity of the area.’ 
 
Negotiations with the Applicant have provided an agreement to Vary this 
Condition which would continue to allow up to 50 HGV movements in and out 
per day but limits this to a maximum of 200 in and 200 out movements per 
week. The current condition equates to 600 HGV movements per week whilst 
the amended version would reduce this to a weekly limit of 400, an overall 
reduction of 200 vehicle movements allowed. Averaged over the week this 
equates to approximately 33 in and out movements per day, however the 
daily limit of 50 would allow the applicant to deal with demand if required. 

The application is accompanied by the following supporting documents: 
 
 -  Planning Statement; 
 - Transport Note (plus Addendum); 
 - Noise Survey (noise from site); 
 - Noise Survey (vehicle noise); 
 -  Additional Letter confirming agreement to Amend Condition 17. 
 
3.8 The application is subject to the following contributions which have been 

agreed by the applicant and are to be secured through a s.106 agreement: 
 
- £40,000 towards the installation and maintenance of a VAS system. 

The s.106 will contain a clause that any unspent money after this has 
been installed and maintenance sum + indexation has been deducted, 
will be returned to the applicant; 

 
- £36,000 towards carriageway resurfacing along Waterloo Road in the 

vicinity of the site access. Contribution to be split into 3-phased 
payments of £12,000, the first payment being 12-months on from 
commencement of operations on site with a further two payments after 
another 12-months and 24-months respectively. 

 
General Site Operations  
 
3.9 Johnsons Aggregates intend to use the site for the accepting and processing 

of Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA). This is a non-hazardous end-product of 
incinerated waste. The waste is collected from the incinerator and doused 
with water (which produces a crust and prevents dust being generated) and 
then transported by lorry to the application site. Once on site, the lorries pass 
over the in-bound weighbridge before tipping the waste into specific outside 

Page 63



 

 

 

stockpile bays divided with concrete brick walks, where the waste is doused 
with water again and left to ‘mature’ for between 8-12 weeks. The lorries may 
either then leave the site empty, or they may go and collect a load of 
‘matured’ waste from a different part of the site and take this load to its next 
destination, passing over the out-bound weighbridge.  Stockpiles will not be 
allowed to exceed 5 metres in height to prevent them being visible along the 
north and north-eastern boundaries. 

 
3.10 During maturation the waste will be tested to determine when it is ready for 

processing and recycling. Once the waste is ready for processing it is 
removed from the stockpile bay with a front-loading shovel and placed into a 
feed hopper located outside the main processing building, which will have a 
raised roof to minimise stray dust. The hopper then feeds into a covered 
trammel screen and then onwards into the building. Once inside the building a 
series of magnets will remove metals and the IBA will be screened and 
crushed into various sizes of finished Incinerator Bottom Ash Aggregate (IBA) 
products. Another front-loading shovel will take the finished products to 
external storage bays located on the eastern side of the site. Therefore the 
only plant and machinery outside the building will be the two front-loading 
shovels and the hopper and covered trammel. 
 

3.11 To improve site operations, traffic circulation and to lessen the potential for 
lorry traffic to wait on the road before entering the site (as was the problem 
with the previous interim operator) the applicant intends to: 
 

- Demolish the existing smaller processing/workshop shed in order to 

make better use of the site and to remove a narrow pinch-point and 

create more room for vehicles to pass; 

- Widen the site access onto Waterloo Road to allow vehicles to enter 

and leave the site at the same time; 

- Install a second weighbridge and relocate both weighbridges further 

into the site away from the site entrance to allow any queuing vehicles 

to come into the site off the road. 

These alterations were approved on the previous application. 
 
4.0  RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
4.1 The site benefits from existing planning permission to accept and process 

waste and this is a significant and material consideration in the determination 
of this current application. The first consent (application ref: W99/0012) was 
allowed on Appeal in 1999 for a waste transfer station for household, 
commercial and industrial waste for recycling. 

 
In November 2007 an application W2005/0906 for an ‘extension of the 
existing recycling centre; extensions to existing building/workshop; 
construction of additional car parking; creation of hardstanding for storage, 
separating and crushing of hard core soil and materials; storage of skips; and 

Page 64



 

 

 

associated landscaping’ was allowed on Appeal for the then applicant and 
operator Wellings Limited. 
 
In granting consent, the Inspector imposed 33 Planning Condition(s) including 
those which are sought for variation. Most recently consent was granted 
under TWC/2017/0882 which allowed alterations to the site layout and 
provided a new list of conditions including the use of the site to process IBA 
waste. This consent has not been implemented, however it remains valid 
alongside the existing 2005 Consent. 

 
Planning History 

 
4.2 TWC/2017/0882 - Variation of Conditions, 1 (revised site plan), Condition 9 (1 

modern wheel wash), Condition 11 (operating hours), Condition 16 
(clarification of type of waste) and Condition 17 (Importation limit) and 
Removal of conditions 31 and 32 (Mineshafts and Landscaping) (previously 
discharged) of planning permission - W2005/0906 - Approved subject to a 
new set of Conditions (except Conditions 11 and 16 which remained 
unchanged) 04 September 2018 
 

4.3 TWC/2016/1042  - Amendment and Variation of various Conditions of existing 
Planning Approval W2005/0906 to allow more HGVs, longer working hours 
and more waste tonnage, new zoning layout of external storage areas and 
internal traffic flow, widening of existing entrance/exit, provision of additional 
weighbridge and wheel wash and installation of two balers - Withdrawn 02 
October 17    

 
4.4 TWC/2014/0852 - Installation of two waste balers and alterations to existing 

work plan - Withdrawn 03 March 2015 
 
4.5 TWC/2014/0622 - Variation of Condition 11 on W2000/0228 to allow 

putrescible domestic refuse and mixed municipal waste (retrospective) - 
Withdrawn 03 October 2014 

 
4.6 W2005/0906 - Extension of the recycling centre, extensions to existing 

building/workshop, construction of additional car parking, creation of 
hardstanding for storage, separating and crushing of hard-core soil and 
materials, storage of skips and associated landscaping - Refused 23 Jan 
2007. Joint planning and Enforcement Appeal Allowed 28 November 2007 

 
4.7 W2004/0933 - Extension to waste recycling facility - Withdrawn 08 December 

2004 
 
4.8 W2000/0228 - Erection of a waste transfer station incorporating offices, 

workshops, gate house, weighbridge re-fuelling area, landscaping and 
construction of a new vehicular access - Granted 14 August 2000 

 
4.9 W99/0012 - Outline Planning (with all Matters Reserved) for Change-of-Use to 

Waste Transfer Station - household, commercial and industrial wastes for 

Page 65



 

 

 

recycling, excluding difficult and special waste types - Appeal against Non-
Determination Allowed 21 December 1999 

 
5.0 RELEVANT POLICY DOCUMENTS 
 
5.1  National Guidance: 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
5.2  Local Development Plan: 
 

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 
 
6.0  SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
6.1 Local Member and Town/Parish Council Responses:  
 
6.1.1 St Georges and Priorslee Parish Council: Object: 

 

- Increased opening hours will affect local residents adversely through 

additional noise, traffic increases in the locality and additional 

inconvenience to residents and pedestrians in the area; 

- Transportation of heavy materials will damage the local road network 

which is not in any way suitable for high levels of large, heavy vehicles. 

The local physical infrastructure will also suffer, e.g., damaged 

pavements, street furniture, drains due to use by heavy vehicles which 

are unsuited to the road; 

- Local residents will be affected by noise and dust and general loss of 

amenity which will affect their properties, reducing their quality of life; 

- Road safety will be jeopardised for pedestrians and particularly children 

walking to and from school in the area due to a lack of footpaths. 

Residents will have no option but to take the risk of using the roads and 

will be faced with large vehicles approaching them min a relatively 

narrow area; 

- Traffic safety at the ‘S’ bend near the Wrens Nest public house is a 

major concern. Large Vehicles already have problems negotiating this 

bend safely without additional heavy vehicles making the situation 

worse. The roads can be seen to be unsuitable for heavy traffic. 

 

6.1.2 Lawley and Overdale Parish Council: Object: 

 

- Local residents do not want the hours extended to allow lorries to leave 

the site before 0700 and fully support them. Ask the Applicant to 

consider the residential nature of the surrounding area, and the fact 

that planning committee imposed the current working hours ‘to protect 

the residential amenities of the surrounding area’; 

Page 66



 

 

 

- Appreciate that the number of lorry movements will not increase but are 

concerned that the size of the lorries will be larger to accommodate the 

volume of waste to be moved; 

- Ask that the applicant ensures that drivers of lorries using the site are 

instructed to use Rock Road and Waterloo Road only, and not to travel 

via Overdale and Garfield Road as this route is totally unsuitable for 

HGVs; 

- Request that Telford and Wrekin Highways take into consideration the 

residential nature of the area, the proximity of the local Primary School 

and play area, acknowledge that this road is a designated route for 

pedestrians and vehicles to travel to the Primary School and HLC 

Secondary School and also the dangerous bend close to the site on 

Waterloo Road; 

- The Applicant should also note that the recent planning application 

granted for the Phase 5 and 9 development will inevitably have a 

cumulative effect on the traffic in this residential area as it will give 

direct access to Rock Road, very near to this site, from Lawley and 

Horsehay and Lightmoor area making this road much busier. 

Amendment Comments 
 

The Parish Council does not believe the amendments to the proposals 
address the concerns of residents and continue to Object to the proposal. 

 
6.2 Standard Consultation Responses 

6.3 Highways: Comment: 
 

Further to previous highways comments made relating to planning application 
ref. TWC/2017/0882, the LHA acknowledges the absence of any existing 
restriction on vehicle sizes associated with the extant permission. 
Nonetheless it is considered that the proposed increase in throughput of 
material will necessitate an increase in use of larger vehicles and as such, the 
previously requested mitigation measures are considered proportionate to the 
likelihood of an increase in larger vehicles. 
 
Confirm that the Local Highway Authority makes No Objection to the 

proposals, subject to the following conditions and s.106 Contributions. 

Following further discussion with the LPA, the LHA acknowledges that the 

previous request for the banning of all HGV movements both to and from the 

site during peak school times, may have been logistically difficult to enforce. It 

is acknowledged that HGV arrival times may not always be fully within the 

applicants control due to external influences, and as such, the prohibition of 

HGVs accessing the site at certain times throughout the day may result in 

knock on effects with HGV’s waiting elsewhere on the network. It is 

considered however, that restricting HGV’s leaving the site during these times 

Page 67



 

 

 

is something which can be more readily controlled by the applicant and 

enforced by the LPA. 

Recommend Condition: 

‘During school term times at the adjacent Newdale and Meadows Primary 

Schools there shall be no HGV movements leaving the site during the hours 

of 0800-0900 and 1430-1530.’ 

 

Following the proposed amendment to Condition 17 of TWC/2017/0882 to 

reduce the permitted weekly HGV movements, the LHA have reduced the 

previously requested s.106 contribution figure proportionate to the proposed 

reduction in weekly HGV movements. The LHA would request a s.106 

contribution of £36,000 to go towards carriageway plane and inlay and other 

associated works in the immediate vicinity of the site access. The monies are 

to be split into 3 phased payments of £12,000, the first of which shall be paid 

on the first anniversary of commencement of operations on site, followed by a 

further two payments after another 12-months and 24-months respectively. 

 

The LHA would request a s.106 contribution of £40,000 to go towards the 

installation and future maintenance of a VAS (Vehicle Activated Sign) Traffic 

Safety System to be located at either end of the chicane to the north of the 

site on Waterloo Road. The monies are to be paid prior to the commencement 

of the works to widen the site access, indexed and any unspent monies after 

the installation of the VAS system and deduction of maintenance fee, 

refunded to the applicant. 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, the following Condition implemented on the 

planning consent under planning ref. TWC/2017/0882 is also considered 

necessary from a highways perspective to be included with any subsequent 

new consent: 

‘Notwithstanding details shown on the Proposed Revised Site Layout Plan 
v1.2 no importation, storage and processing of IBA waste on the site shall 
take place until the site access has been widened within the site in 
accordance with details to be first submitted and approved in writing with the 
LPA.  The approved scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the first 
importation, storage and processing of IBA waste on the site.’ 

 
6.4 The Environment Agency: No Objection: 
 

No Objection to the proposed Variation of Conditions 10 and 16 and would 
offer the following additional comments for consideration. An Environmental 
Permit (ref.: RP3237YR) for the recovery of >50 tonnes per day of incinerator 
bottom ash at the site was issued by the Environment Agency to Johnsons 
Aggregates and Recycling Ltd on 31 August 2018. Prior to commencement of 

Page 68



 

 

 

these permitted activities the significant amount of waste still at the site 
following the vacation of the site by the previous occupier must be removed. 

 
6.5 Drainage: No Comment 
 
6.6 The Coal Authority: No Comment 
 
6.7 Shropshire Fire Service: Comment: 
 

Requires consideration to be given to advice provided in Shropshire Fire and 
Rescue Service’s ‘Fire Safety Guidance for Commercial and Domestic 
Planning Applications.’ 

 
7.0  SUMMARY OF PUBLIC RESPONSE 
 
7.1 A total of 25 objections were received on the first round of consultation and 23 

on the second and are summarised as follows: 
 

Highway Matters 
 

- Additional vehicles unsuitable for existing highway; 

- Amount and size of vehicles will cause disruption; 

- Existing roads are not large enough to cope with HGV’s; 

- Impact upon Pedestrian Safety; 

- Size of vehicles will affect state of existing road; 

- Wagons will park and wait outside of site; 

- Vehicles are dangerous considering location of schools nearby; 

- There are a lack of suitable paths; 

- Vehicles will cause noise and vibration; 

- Vehicles park across entrances to bridleways. 

Environmental Matters 
 

- Existing waste causes smells and attracts vermin; 

- Proposal will cause smells and attract vermin; 

- Increased pollution from operation and vehicles; 

- Wildlife impact; 

- Noise pollution; 

- Early operating hours will disrupt sleeping. 

Other Comments 
 

A large number of comments relate to the principle of the use and 
suggestions are made that the site should be moved to a more suitable 
location. These concerns are acknowledged, however the principal of the site 
and its use is already established and this is not for further consideration. 

 
 

Page 69



 

 

 

Newdale Primary School  
 

The existing school currently occupies 510 children and is at capacity. The 
school is already concerned about mass house building in their immediate 
surroundings and the effects this will have on congestion and road safety. 
 
Developing this recycling centre further can only add to concerns. The School 
has many parents and children who travel to school via the proposed site and 
whom already have to negotiate a difficult stretch of road. Lorries and added 
heavy goods congestion will increase risk by way of the roads. 
 
The school has a developed play area adjacent to the Rock road where 
children play and learn which is in constant use. Traffic from this site will 
cause pollution by way of fumes and noise not to mention escaped waste 
which used to happen regularly when the site was used by another waste 
company. 
 
Many families of the school live near the site and the disruption to their way of 
life by way of smell, noise and unsociable hours must be considered. 

 
Support 

 
Two letters in support of the application have been received on grounds that 
the proposal would: 

 
- Support Local Business; 

- Regenerate the existing site; 

- Alleviate the environmental problems by allowing removal of 

existing waste which removes rodent problem. 

 

8.0  PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
8.1 Having regard to the Development Plan Policy and other Material 

Considerations including comments received during the consultation process, 
the planning application raises the following main issues: 

 
  -  Principle of Development 

- Highway Implications 
  -  Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity  
  -  Planning Obligations 
 
8.2 Principle of Development  
  
8.3 The site received permission to operate as a waste recycling and skip hire 

business in 1999 (allowed on Appeal), with a further extension of the recycling 
centre, extensions to existing building/workshop, construction of additional car 
parking, creation of hard-standing for storage, separating and crushing of 
hard-core soil and materials, storage of skips and associated landscaping 
also allowed on appeal in November 2007 (W2005/0906). The most recent 

Page 70



 

 

 

consent granted in August 2018 (TWC/2017/0882) allows the operation of 
recycling IBA waste and approved alterations to the site as outlined in para. 
3.1 of this report. This consent remains unimplemented with the applicant 
confirming that they are unable to operate viably with the restricted tonnage 
approved on that consent. 

 
8.4 The Principle of allowing a waste business to operate from this site is 

therefore established. This ‘fall-back’ position is a significant and material 
consideration in the determination of this application as the existing 
permission runs with the land, not with a particular company or operator. This 
means that refusing this current application does not remove the Use on the 
site nor does it stop the site continuing to be used as a waste transfer station, 
regardless of who is operating it. This also applies to the existing Conditions 
including hours of operation and the number of HGV movements. The most 
recent 2018 consent could also be implemented by another operator subject 
to the Condition(s) of that particular application (and subject to an EA Permit). 

 
8.5 TWLP Policy ER7 (Waste Management Facilities) expects altered waste 

facilities, such as this, to help increase rates of recycling, create new 
employment opportunities and minimise the impact of the facility on the local 
environment and positively contribute to the local community. 

 
8.6 Highway Implications  
 
8.7 It is acknowledged that one of the most significant concerns raised by the 

local Parish Councils and local residents is the highway implications arising 
from operations at this site. As noted above, the fall-back position is a 
significant and important planning consideration in this regard and it should be 
noted that another company could operate under the existing conditions which 
would allow up to 50 in and 50 out HGV (above 7.5 Tonne) movements from 
the site per day in addition to as many vehicles under 7.5 Tonne as required 
within the limits of the current waste weight restrictions. This could include 
skip trucks, vans and cars. The previous operator who vacated the site for 
example ran a different type of waste business and used large articulated 
HGV’s. However, providing the occupier or any future occupier of the site 
remains within the vehicle limit restrictions, they cannot be held in breach of 
the existing planning consent.  

 
8.8 Further to the above, there is no road limit on the size/weight of vehicles that 

can use Waterloo and Rock Road which form part of the Borough’s highway 
network. The road can therefore be used by HGV’s whether or not they are 
operating out of this site, unrestricted.  

 
8.9 The previously approved application allowed internal changes to the site that 

overcome some of the concerns raised, particularly in regards to vehicles 
waiting on the highway. Members were satisfied and concurred with the 
Officers view that the proposed widened access, relocation of weighbridges 
and demolition of a building in a narrow pinch-point went a long way towards 
improving general site operational efficiency as well as reducing the issue of 

Page 71



 

 

 

‘waiting lorries’ parked on the road outside the site. These proposed changes 
remain unaltered on this proposal. 

 
8.10 The proposal to Amend Condition 16 (weight of waste materials) does 

however mean that it is more likely than on the previous consents, that a 
greater quantity of larger HGV’s would be used in order to carry out the IBA 
recycling operations. IBA is dense and heavy especially as it is transported 
doused in water. Notwithstanding this, it must be recognised again that a 
different operator could use the site for different type of waste recycling and 
use large HGV’s. Certainly, with the proposed improvements to the site 
access (widening), there is an opportunity to improve highway safety in the 
immediate vicinity of the site. 

 
8.11 With this in mind, Officers have discussed in detail the proposed operations 

with the applicant and discussed ways in which improvements to the previous 
consent could be made. The first of these is the number of vehicle 
movements to and from the site. The existing consent allows up to 50 HGV 
movements in and 50 HGV movements out of the site each working day 
(Condition 17). The applicant did not propose to amend this on the previous 
application or when this application was originally submitted. However, the 
applicant has now agreed to amend this Condition so that that whilst 
continuing to allow up to 50 HGV movements in and out per day, it is limited 
to an overall maximum of 200 in and 200 out movements per week. The 
current Condition equates to 600 HGV movements per week whilst this 
amended version would reduce this to a weekly limit of 400, a significant 
overall reduction of up to 200 weekly HGV movements allowed. Averaged 
over the week this equates to approximately 33 in and 33 out movements per 
day, however the daily limit of 50 in and 50 out would allow the applicant to 
deal with demand if required on certain days. Officers are of the view that this 
is an improvement on both the existing and most recent planning consents 
and would lessen the overall impact upon the highway. 

 
8.12 On the previous application put before Planning Committee, the Case Officer 

noted the highways request for a contribution towards road resurfacing but 
considered that this did not meet the planning tests (as set out in the CIL 
Regulations, April 2010) on grounds that it would not be necessary to make 
the development acceptable in planning terms, did not directly related to the 
development and that it did not fairly and reasonably relate in scale and kind 
to the development. The Applicant was however happy to provide this 
contribution and this remains the case subject to the introduction of phased 
payment triggers. Notwithstanding the previous Officer’s report, further 
discussions between the applicant, their planning agent and both planning 
and highways Officers have taken place which has formed an alternative 
opinion of this previous stance. The primary reason for the requirement to 
contribute towards carriageway plane and inlay and other associated works in 
the immediate vicinity of the site access is that due to the weight of IBA waste 
the average weight of the vehicles operating out of this site will be heavier and 
will place a greater burden upon the existing road surface which without the 
necessary improvements may quickly deteriorate. Without an agreement in 
place to improve the nearby roads to cope with this extra weight demand, the 

Page 72



 

 

 

Council’s Highways Officers would be unable to support the proposal. As 
such, a contribution to resurface the road to a suitable standard is necessary 
to make the development acceptable, directly relates to the development and 
the monies requested relate in scale and kind to the development. As such, a 
request is considered CIL compliant and Officer’s consider such road 
improvements will benefit not only the development itself but also users of the 
local highway network. 

 
8.13 In addition to the above and as with the previous application, the Council’s 

Highways Officers have recommended the installation of a Vehicle Activated 
Signage at either end of the nearby S bend north of the site. This will benefit 
other users of the road including other HGV drivers coming in the opposite 
direction that a larger vehicle is oncoming. The previous Officer report 
acknowledged this benefit but felt at the time that requirement to install such a 
system simply acknowledges that there is a problem. Notwithstanding this 
previous consideration, the current view is that the problem is an existing one 
and the issues of the number of HGV’s negotiating the S bend can manifest 
with any future occupier of the application site under the existing consent as 
previously discussed. Given that the current proposal is likely to result in a 
higher number of larger HGV’s, there is an opportunity with this application to 
make use of this technology which the applicant is happy to provide through 
an appropriate s.106 contribution. 

 
8.14 Local residents, the Parish Council’s and the nearby school have all raised 

concerns over increased traffic from the development however, there is no 
evidence to suggest that the development would result in more vehicles using 
the surrounding roads than would be possible under the existing consents. In 
fact, the Amendments proposed to Condition 17 which reduce the overall 
number of HGV’s over a week by up to 200 is a significant improvement in 
addition to the fact that the current applicant is unlikely to operate a significant  
number smaller vehicles under 7.5 Tonnes. Despite this, Officers concur with 
local concerns in relation to large vehicles on the local highway during school 
drop off and pick up times. 

 
8.15 The previous report to Committee acknowledged the Highways Officers 

request to provide a Condition that would cease vehicle movements in and 
out of the site between 0800-0900 and 1430-1530 however, the Officer 
considered that this would be difficult to enforce. This view remains the case 
as it would be extremely difficult for the applicant to control when vehicles 
arrive at the site and their inability to enter the site during these times is likely 
to result in vehicles waiting outside the site. However, it remains that a 
condition can be attached to cease vehicles leaving the site between these 
times which could be controlled by the applicant and is far easier to enforce, 
both visually and through obtaining weighbridge records if required. Officers 
therefore consider that a condition ceasing vehicle movements out of the site 
between 0800-0900 and 1430-1530 is appropriate and provides an extra 
mechanism that reduces the conflict between HGVs operating from the site 
and other users of the highway. 

 

Page 73



 

 

 

8.16 Officers note concerns raised by the applicant that this condition may cause 
vehicles backed up within the site during these hours. However, given the 
operating hours of the site, whereby vehicles coming into and out of the site 
can be spread over a whole day, it is not considered that this would cause 
significant operational issues for the applicant and that this concern is 
outweighed by the benefits of reducing the number of HGV’s on the local road 
network during these peak times. 

 
8.17 As such, Officers consider that the proposal to allow an increase in the weight 

of waste material entering the site would not cause an unacceptable impact 
upon the highway network that could not be mitigated through appropriate 
conditions and necessary improvements of the local highway including 
resurfacing and the installation of a VAS warning system. It is therefore 
difficult for Officer’s to argue that the current proposal significantly makes 
worse any existing situation. Officers consider that refusal to amend Condition 
16 on grounds that this would result in an adverse impact upon the highway or 
highway safety would not stand the test of appeal should the application be 
refused. This application will bring benefits compared to the previous 
consents including the reduction in the weekly number of HGVs and 
contributions towards the maintenance of the highway. 

 
8.18 Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity 
 
8.19 A number of concerns have been raised in respect of the environmental 

impact of the site and the impact this has upon local amenity with concerns 
relating to both the proposed use and in regards to the leftover waste which 
still remains on the site. These concerns relate mainly to odour and noise. It 
should be noted that the environmental aspects of the proposal is controlled 
through an already valid permit issued by the Environment Agency. In order to 
facilitate the scheme and to comply with Environment Agency requirements, 
the initial benefit will be the clearance of the site of the existing waste before 
operations commence. 

 
8.20 The type of waste to be processed is non-toxic IBA, a by-product of the 

incinerator process. The stockpiles of this waste will be doused with water to 
reduce airborne dust. The Environment Agency have issued an 
Environmental Permit for the storage and processing of IBA and ensures that 
the  before the applicant can operate from the site and they will be required to 
remove the existing waste from the site so that hardstanding can be laid 
down. The EA are chief agency to monitor activities on site, including dust and 
air quality. The type of waste to be recycled at the site was approved on the 
previous consent and this is not a consideration on this application. 

 
8.21 With regards the increased hours, this will be for an hour earlier in the 

mornings between 0600-0700 Monday to Fridays. There would be no 
deliveries of waste to the site and no processing of waste between 0600-0700 
and the vehicles can be pre-loaded and parked ready to be driven out of the 
site in a forward manner. The main activity will therefore be for up to 10 
vehicles to leave the site during this hour which would be taken out of the total 
number of vehicles allowed to leave the site under Condition 17. 

Page 74



 

 

 

 
8.22 The main concern with vehicles leaving at this time is chiefly the noise of 

vehicles passing residential properties at what is considered a nigh time hour. 
Following submission of this application, the applicant has produced a noise 
report carried out at the nearby S bend during this time. This is in addition to a 
survey carried out at the site itself. The results of this report demonstrate that 
the introduction of additional HGV’s on the road network at this time would not 
cause a detrimental and significant increase in noise when compared against 
existing vehicle noise within this hour. Following the results of this survey, the 
applicant has clearly demonstrated that vehicles existing the site between 
0600-0700 would not cause sufficient detrimental to the amenities of the 
surrounding area that would warrant refusal of the application. As such the 
proposal complies with TWLP Policy BE1 (xi). 

 
8.23 Planning Obligations  
 
8.24 The proposed development meets the requirement to provide the following 

contributions: 
 
8.25 Highways:  
 

- £40,000 towards the installation and maintenance of a VAS system. 
The S106 will contain a clause that any unspent money after this has 
been installed and maintenance sum + indexation has been deducted, 
will be returned to the applicant; 

 
- £36,000 towards carriageway resurfacing along Waterloo Road in the 

vicinity of the site access. Contribution to be split into 3 phased 
payments of £12,000, the first payment being 12-months on from 
commencement of operations on site with a further two payments after 
another 12-months and 24-months respectively. 

 
8.26 In determining the required Planning Obligations on this specific application 

the following three tests as set out in the CIL Regulations (2010), in particular 
Regulation 122, have been applied to ensure that the application is treated on 
its own merits: 

 
a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 

terms; 
b) directly related to the development; 
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 

development. 
 
9.0  CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 A large number of the comments received on this application refer to the site 

being in an inappropriate location and that it should be closed or moved to a 
more suitable location within the borough. Whilst this may be desirable, and it 
is noted that Policy ER7 encourages new waste management facilities to be 

Page 75



 

 

 

located in the strategic employment areas, it remains that the site has existing 
consent for this use and this cannot be altered through this application.  

 
9.2 The existing consent to be altered already reduces the types of waste that can 

be processed to just IBA. The implementation of this consent would therefore 
no longer allow plastics and cardboard for example. In addition, the existing 
consent will, once implemented, provide a number of on-site improvements, 
not just the clearance of the remaining stockpiles of waste on the site. The 
further improvements include improving the site access which will allow 
HGV’s to pass and enter/leave at the same time. A second weighbridge will 
be installed so that lorries don’t have to wait, and both weighbridges will be 
positioned further into the site away from the entrance – this means that 
vehicles can pull off the road and wait inside the site. 

 
9.3 Officers consider that the increase in the tonnage in waste (Condition 16) 

would not have a significant detrimental impact that would warrant refusal of 
the application. The use of HGV’s is already allowed through the existing 
consent and through negotiations on this application, a significant reduction in 
the weekly number of HGV movements has been agreed (Condition 17). 
When combined with contributions towards road resurfacing and the 
introduction of a VAS system, Officers are of the view that the resultant set of 
conditions now proposed offer an overall improvement when compared to 
previous consents. The altered facility is compliant with Policy ER7 of the 
TWLP as it will help increase rates of recycling, create employment 
opportunities and minimises the impact of the facility on the local environment. 

 
9.4 The Variation of the hours of operation Condition (10) to allow 10 pre-loaded 

vehicles to leave the site between 0600-0700 is also considered acceptable 
as there is no evidence that the noise created by vehicles passing residential 
units in the vicinity of the site would be detrimental when considered above 
existing road noise within this hour. Furthermore, it is noted that that the 
proposal also includes an earlier closure of 1400 on Saturdays (instead of 
1600). 

 
9.5 Therefore Officers agree to the variation of Conditions 10 (hours of operation), 

Condition 16 (weight of waste materials), 17 (vehicle movements) and seek to 
impose an additional condition to cease vehicle movements out of the site 
during school drop off and pick up times.  

 
9.6 There are no technical issues that would prevent the development from 

proceeding and no issues that cannot be mitigated against through the use of 
conditions. Accordingly it is considered that the proposal represents a 
sustainable form of development which complies with the National Planning 
Policy Framework, together with relevant policies within the Telford and 
Wrekin Local Plan. 

 
9.7 For clarification, the result of consent will be an entirely new planning 

permission which will bring forward all the conditions attached on the 
previously approved application with the inclusion of the amended conditions 
and any new conditions as considered necessary on this application.  

Page 76



 

 

 

10.0  RECOMMENDATION  
 
10.1 Based on the conclusions above, the recommendation to the Planning 

Committee on this application is that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted 
to the Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT 
PLANNING PERMISSION to Vary Conditions 10, 16 and 17 subject to the 
following: 

 
A) A contribution of £40,000 towards the installation and maintenance of a 

VAS system. The s.106 will contain a clause that any unspent money 
after this has been installed and maintenance sum + indexation has 
been deducted, will be returned to the applicant. 

 
A contribution of £36,000 towards carriageway resurfacing along 
Waterloo Road in the vicinity of the site access. Contribution to be split 
into 3 phased payments of £12,000, the first payment being 12-months 
on from commencement of operations on site with a further two 
payments after another 12-months and 24-months respectively. 

 
C) The following additional Condition (with authority to finalise Conditions 

and reasons for approval to be delegated to Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager): 

 
1. During school term times at the adjacent Newdale and Meadows 

Primary Schools there shall be no HGV movements leaving the site 

during the hours of 0800-0900 and 1430-1530. 

 
 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



 Google Earth Image (attached by LPA)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

GOOGLE EARTH IMAGE (Attached by LPA) 

 

 

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2019/0487  
Land west of Lawford Close, Off Majestic Way, Aqueduct, Telford, Shropshire 
Outline application for residential development of up to 39 dwellings and access from 
Majestic Way with all other matters reserved ***AMENDED PLANS AND 
INFORMATION RECEIVED***  
 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
Homes England,  A Evans 14/06/2019 
 
PARISH WARD 
Dawley Hamlets Dawley and Aqueduct 
 
THIS APPLICATION HAS BEEN REFERRED TO PLANNING COMMITTEE AS 
THE COUNCIL ARE THE APPLICANT AND IS FURTHER SUBJECT TO A S106 
AGREEMENT 
 
1.0 SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION 

 
1.1  It is recommended that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to the 

Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT OUTLINE 

PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions, informatives and a S106 

Agreement. 

 
2.0  SITE AND SURROUNDINGS  
 
2.1 The application site comprises an irregular shaped parcel of land comprising 

2.55ha of horse grazed semi-improved pasture land with treed boundaries to 

the south, west and the majority of the northern edge. A timber stable block 

and barn are located in a relatively central point along the western edge of the 

site. The site is subject to a change in level, with an overall fall of 

approximately 12.5m from the northern tip of the site to the south western 

corner over a distance of approximately 300m, together with a variable east to 

west cross-fall from Majestic Way to The Ironbridge Way footpath.  

 

2.2 Located in the existing residential area of Aqueduct around 3km to the south 

west of Telford Town Centre, the site sits to the west of Majestic Way linking 

through to Dawley to the north and connecting routes to Madeley, Lightmoor 

and the Town Centre to the south. There are two bus stops located along 

Majestic Way providing a bus route for the number 1 and 2 services with links 

to Dawley, Madeley and Telford Town Centre on the basis of 15-30 minute 

frequency across the day, and hourly in the evening, with an hourly service on 

Sundays till the early evening. The nearest bus stop is located in close 

proximity to the southern boundary of the site opposite the junction between 

Majestic Way and Lawford Close. Telford Central train station is located 

approximately 4.5 miles to the north with regular services to the wider urban 

destinations of Birmingham and Shrewsbury. 

Page 85

Agenda Item 6d



 

 

 

2.3 A Public Right of Way abuts the site to the north east linking to the mature 

tree lined Ironbridge Way (8 mile footpath linking through to Leegomery in the 

north of Telford and Ironbridge to the south) adjoining the site to the west. The 

Dawley Pools and Pit Mounds Local Nature Reserve - which was formally 

adopted in January 2019, then sits beyond this, a Green Network designation 

is also in place for this adjoining area of land and marginally tips into the 

western and southern edges of the site, the latter forming part of a larger 

swathe of designated land. Aqueduct Primary School lies to the north east 0.3 

miles on foot and 0.6 miles by car, together with a health centre, chemist and 

two convenience stores along Majestic Way (0.2-0.3 miles).  

 

2.4  The nearest residential dwellings are located to the north east of the site off 

Majestic Way and Widewater Close, together with residences off Majestic 

Way opposite looping round the inner curve of the road. With the exception of 

the adjoining bungalows to the south, dwellings comprise a two storey 

detached form. The area is characterised by suburban residential 

development interspersed with greenspace. 

 
3.0     APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
3.1 This application seeks outline planning permission for up to 39 dwellings on 

the site, together with associated access – a single point from Majestic Way. 

All other matters are reserved for later consideration. An indicative site plan 

accompanies the application presenting a mix of detached and semi-detached 

units amounting to 39no. dwellings. The application has been made by Telford 

& Wrekin Council on behalf of Homes England as the landowner. The 

proposal is further accompanied by: 

 
 Design, Access and Planning Statement 

 Ecological Appraisal (August 2018 and January 2019) 

 Flood Risk Assessment 

 Transport Statement 

 Tree Survey and Root Protection Areas 

 Ground Conditions Report  

 
3.2 The application has been subject to amendment during the course of 

determination, further detail has been input to the Design & Access 

Statement as to the anticipated options around the treatment of levels, 

revision to the proposed ecological approach, and amendment to the 

indicative layout to differently address nodal points and deliver greater 

separation distances. The application is accompanied by a constraints plan, 

this inter alia identifies the position of a retained bank of trees to the north, 

west and southern edges of the site, together with a series of drainage 

Page 86



 

 

 

easements, with due consideration of these constraints collectively, the 

developable area is considered to be reduced to approximately 1.5 hectares. 

 
3.3 The application confirms that 25% of the number of units proposed will be 

affordable with the allocation to be determined at reserved matters stage. 

 
4.0  RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
4.1 Pre-Application Advice – PE/2018/0772 Outline residential proposal 

 
5.0 RELEVANT POLICY DOCUMENTS  
 
5.1  National Guidance:  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
5.2  Local Development Plan: 

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 
 

6.0  SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 

Local Member & Town/Parish Council Responses:  
 
6.1 Lucy Allan MP: Object 

 Removal of green area for residents to enjoy – area is constantly in use by 

local children and residents 

 Existing high traffic levels – along Majestic Way which would be made worse 

by additional houses 

 Impact on wildlife – within newly adopted local nature reserve where many 

residents walk their dogs 

 

6.2 Dawley Hamlets Parish Council: Object 

 Loss of green space – loss of one of the few green spaces left in Aqueduct 

 Impact on infrastructure – school and medical practice are almost full 

 Lack of footpath planning application side of Majestic Way – leading to 

Castlefields roundabout pedestrians forced to cross Majestic Way at least 

twice to cross the bypass to walk to Madeley 

 Increase in traffic and chance of accidents – on Castlefields roundabout 

already gridlocked at peak times, two new junctions and house drive access 

 Existing busyness of Majestic Way - parents park there to pick up and collect 

their children from Madeley Academy and residents park on the road and 

across the pavements due to inadequate private parking 

 Impact on wildlife – including a population of great crested newts, adjacent 

Dawley Hamlets Nature Reserve 

 Impact on trees – tree retention plan does not appear to address the 2:1 

planting ratio for every tree removed using local species 

 

Page 87



 

 

 

Standard Consultation Responses 
 
6.3 Highways: Support subject to conditions 

 Proposed conditions comprise: 

Visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m at the access 

Details of parking, turning, loading and unloading of vehicles  

Details of the design and construction of any new roads, footways, accesses 

together with a scheme of street lighting and details of the disposal of surface 

water  

Detailed scheme of off-site highway works along Majestic Way  

 

Offsite highway works (along with works to create the main access and 

dropped kerb vehicular accesses along Majestic Way) to be secured via a 

S.278 Highways Act.  

 
6.4 Drainage: Support subject to conditions 

Reserved Matters to include a Drainage Statement Document setting out how 

the site will be drained in line with the findings of the Flood Risk Assessment 

Scheme for foul and surface water  

SUDs management plan   

 
6.5 Trees: Support subject to conditions 

Seeking a Section 106 contribution to manage the trees on and adjacent to 
the site. Requests key planting along Majestic Way to enhance the street 
scene and provide the dwellings with scale. 

 
6.6 Ecology: Support subject to conditions: 

Ecological Mitigation Strategy 
Construction Environmental Management Plan 
European Protected Species Licence 
Erection of artificial nesting/roosting boxes 
Landscaping Design 
Habitat Creation and Management Plan 
Lighting Plan 
Requests a S106 contribution of £52,900 towards Dawley Pools and Pit 
Mounds Local Nature Reserve. 
 

6.7 Healthy Spaces: Support Subject to conditions  
Requests a financial contribution of £600 per 2 or more bedroom property, 
towards upgrading / enhancing the fishing pegs around the nearby Wide 
Waters pool in order to maximise the capacity and meet the need arising out 
of this development. Management plan condition required. 
 

6.8 Education: Comment 
Requests a S106 contribution of £116,508 towards primary school provision 
and £48,803 towards secondary school provision.  

 
 

Page 88



 

 

 

6.9 Affordable Housing: Comment  
Provision of 25% affordable housing - 80% of these homes should be for 

Social Rent with 20% for Shared Ownership – these homes should also be 

retained as affordable in the long term. The dwellings should be tenure neutral 

and well integrated within the overall development (HO6). Parking should be 

at the front of the dwelling or immediately alongside. There is a continuing 

under supply of affordable homes in Telford & Wrekin, particularly homes for 

rent. The most recent Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) for the 

borough identified an annual shortfall of around 665 affordable homes, with 

gross new supply currently around half of this (2016). An appropriate S106 

agreement will be required to secure the affordable housing and confirm that 

the above development standards will be achieved. A Local Lettings & Sales 

Plan will also need to be agreed between the Council and the Registered 

Provider. The affordable dwelling mix will need to be determined at reserved 

matters stage. The affordable housing scheme - including dwelling type, 

tenure, bedroom sizes, location and space/development standards – should 

be agreed in principle with the Council prior to the submission of an 

application for Reserved Matters. The affordable homes should be transferred 

to an appropriate Registered Provider.  

 
6.10 Archaeology: No comment 
 
6.11 Shropshire Fire Service: Comment 

Requires consideration to be given to advice provided in Shropshire Fire and 
Rescue Service’s Fire Safety Guidance for Commercial and Domestic 
Planning Applications. 
 
It is vital a robust Swept Path Analysis is undertaken throughout this 
development, in order to accurately track the suitability of access for fire 
appliances. 
 

6.12 The Ramblers Association: Comment 
Identify that the application is for houses immediately adjacent to a public right 

of way that runs alongside the western boundary of the proposed site. This 

public footpath is also a named route: The Ironbridge Way. Whilst it is noted 

that it appears, from the deposited plans, that the proposal intends to retain 

the mature hedge alongside the Ironbridge Way, it is worth repeating the 

importance of this hedge both to the character of the footpath and for the 

wildlife that it supports. It must not be removed or damaged in any way. The 

Ramblers cannot, in this instance object to this development. However, we 

would recommend that connections are made between this development and 

the public footpath to enable easy access for residents and thus encourage 

walking and enjoyment of the local countryside. 

 
 
 

Page 89



 

 

 

7.0  SUMMARY OF PUBLIC RESPONSE 
 
7.1 110 objections received from members of the public (this figure discounts 

duplicate objections where relating to the same party). The comments are 

available in full on the planning file, but key points have been summarised as 

follows:  

 
 Removal of green area and home to horses, key resource to local and farther 

afield children and families over an extensive period, local nature reserve 

should be extended to include the site  

 Impact on wildlife including newly adopted local nature reserve 

 Existing highway problems and highway safety – particularly in regard to 

existing heavy use of Majestic Way and Castlefields roundabout, traffic from 

Aqueduct and Madeley Academy, speeding traffic  

 Lack of footpath on planning application side of Majestic Way leading to the 

Castlefields roundabout  

 New recreation facilities not an argument to support development – failure of 

Council to maintain and continue investment in facilities locally and subject to 

anti-social behaviour  

 Poor ground conditions  
 Existing drainage problems - already struggling to cope 

 Lack of need and better alternative sites within Dawley Area  

 Impact on local infrastructure – more pressure on already struggling education 

and medical facilities 

 Design not in keeping - existing houses are detached around perimeter of the 

site, number of semi-detached properties proposed 

 Impact of building site – on neighbouring footpaths, noise and dust pollution, 

impact of construction traffic  

 Impact on views  

 Impact on property values and potential increase in cost of living for existing 

residents  

 2014 objection to land bank proposal – reasons remain the same as 5 years 

ago 

 Inappropriate consultation and transparency. 

   

7.2 One representation in support of the proposal has been received. 
 
8.0  PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
8.1 Having regard to the development plan and other material considerations 

including comments received during the consultation process, the planning 
application raises the following main issues: 

 
 -  Principle of Development  
 -  Highways and Access 

Page 90



 

 

 

 -  Flood Risk and Drainage  
 - Trees and Ecology Issues 
 - Ground Conditions 
 -   Other Matters 
 -  Planning Obligations 
 

Principle of Development  
 
8.2 The application site sits within the built up area of Telford where the principle 

of housing development is supported through policies SP1 and HO1 of the 

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan (2011-2031), the latter setting out the housing 

target for the Borough to 2031. Policy HO2 seeks to identify a key contributor 

to satisfying this target identifying a series of allocated sites, one of which is 

H15 – Land off Majestic Way, Aqueduct relating to the application site with an 

indicative yield of 40 dwellings. Whilst Officers acknowledge that there is 

clearly value attached to the site through its established context as horse 

grazing, but when judged against a critical planning policy component – its 

allocation – the development is compliant. The Council’s Development Plan is 

therefore in full support of housing on this site subject to the usual technical 

constraints. It is further noted that the principle of residential development on 

the site is long established, having been committed for housing development 

in the Wrekin Local Plan adopted in 2000, and the majority of the site benefits 

from a Section 7(1) consent of the New Towns Act 1981. 

 
8.3 The proposal would trigger the threshold for affordable housing (whilst an up 

to description applies, development would inevitably exceed 11 or more 

dwellings) with 25% to be applied to sites within Telford through policy HO5, 

the applicant acknowledges the requirement to provide this with the 

commitment to deliver this provision on-site in accordance with Policy HO6.  

 
8.4 During the lifecycle of the application, the applicant has agreed amendment to 

the development description to indicate that the site should contain ‘up to’ 39 

dwellings rather than for explicitly for 39 dwellings. This acknowledges the 

constraints of the site and that, notwithstanding the indicative site plan, a 

lesser number of dwellings may be achievable. In any case, the proposed 

number of units will remain lower than the indicative figure of 40 units for this 

site suggested on Table 21 of the Local Plan. 

 
8.5 The application is for Outline consent including access with all other matters 

reserved. As such, the internal layout, landscaping and design of the 
proposed dwellings is to be considered at Reserved Matters Stage. Officers 
are therefore satisfied that the principle of development is acceptable and in 
accordance with the development plan.    

 
 
 

Page 91



 

 

 

  Highways and Access 
 
8.6 The Local Highways Authority (LHA) have considered the proposed 

development which has been supported by a Transport Statement. They have 

raised no objections to the proposal subject to a number of conditions to 

control the detailed delivery of the access and parking, a number of which 

would be pertinent to any future Reserved Matters application.  

 
8.7 Vehicular access to the development would be provided towards the northern 

corner of the site off Majestic Way. The vehicular access proposes to 

incorporate a footpath access to the site from Majestic Way. The footpath to 

Wide Waters Close would remain and a new pedestrian route from Majestic 

Way to Ironbridge Way has been identified as a part of the development, the 

status and detailed design of this route will be considered at a later date/as 

part of any reserved matters application to formalise a clear desire line 

present on the site as existing. 

 
8.8 Objections have been received in respect of the impact of the proposal on the 

local highway network - with reference to existing problems including 

vehicular congestion along Majestic Way particularly related the Castlefields 

Way roundabout, insufficient parking in the locality especially related to the 

nearby Aqueduct primary school and Madeley Academy, and the frequent 

occurrence of traffic accidents.  

 

8.9 As per the Telford & Wrekin Highways Design Guide, providing appropriate 

geometry and visibility, a single point of access is considered suitable to serve 

residential developments of up to 100 dwellings, which is significantly more 

than the up to 39 proposed. The proposed access is of appropriate geometry 

to allow two vehicles to pass, from which adequate access visibility can be 

achieved in both directions; accordingly the LHA has no objections to the 

single access point. Officers are satisfied that the proposed access position 

and that the arrangement provides appropriate access to and ingress from the 

site. The applicant has provided a supporting Transport Statement (TS) which 

the LHA considers has demonstrated that the level of vehicular trips 

generated by the development will not result in any detriment to the operation 

of the adopted highway network. The TS shows that a development of this 

scale will generate approximately 28 vehicular trips in a PM peak hour, which 

is the equivalent to one vehicular movement every 2 minutes. In terms of the 

impact on the wider network infrastructure, this level of vehicle movements is 

likely to be indistinguishable from day to day variations in baseline traffic 

levels. 

 
8.10 As part of the formal highways recommendation, the LHA have requested a 

condition pertaining to the delivery of a scheme of off-site highway works 

Page 92



 

 

 

along the Majestic Way site frontage, which will assist in the reduction of 

vehicle speeds in vicinity of the development. This is considered proportionate 

to the developments impact due to the introduction of vehicles turning in and 

out of the site. The delivery of a larger scheme to address any wider existing 

issues along Majestic Way is not considered proportionate to the impact of the 

development and would not meet the relevant tests. Similarly, existing 

concerns relating to speed limits along surrounding routes are a separate 

matter for discussion outside of the planning process. It is understood that the 

TWC Network Management team are aware of many of these existing 

concerns, with ongoing dialogue with Councillors and local representatives. 

 
8.11 With regards to on-site parking provisions, although the layout provided is 

only indicative at this stage, the applicant has demonstrated that parking can 

be provided commensurate with the Local Plan parking standards for the 

proposed scale of development. Should the scheme be granted approval, any 

Reserved Matters submission would not be supported by the LHA unless the 

on-site parking provisions meet the parking standards laid out in the Local 

Plan.  

 

8.12 On the basis of the above, Officers are satisfied that this outline proposal 

satisfies the requirements of local plan policy C3.  

 
Flood Risk and Drainage 

 
8.13 The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 

which identifies that there is a modelled surface water flow path along the 

western boundary of the site, flowing in a southerly direction and this area 

forms the base of a valley. The development site is identified as sitting 

adjacent to a tributary of the Lyde Brook that drains towards Coalbrookdale 

which is a designated Rapid Response Catchment with a risk of extreme flash 

flooding of the area. 

 

8.14 The assessment further advises that there is a watercourse running along the 

site’s western boundary, flowing from an unrecorded pipe near the north east 

corner of the site. An overflow chamber discharges to the public water system 

via a manhole in the northern corner and a development easement has been 

shown on the indicative layout that would remain pertinent to any Reserved 

Matters proposal. There are several Severn Trent Water (STW) public foul 

and surface water sewers crossing the site, with recommendations relating to 

the STW outfall. This network then drains across the catchment boundary of 

the Lyde Brook towards a balancing pond at Madeley Court to the south east. 

The report concludes that any flows entering the public sewer network on this 

site would be directed away from the Coalbrook Rapid Response Catchment.  

 

Page 93



 

 

 

8.15 In regards to modelled flood data, the FRA guides that the site is located in 

wholly in Flood Zone 1. Related to the western watercourse, the catchment 

serving this channel is too small to have been nationally modelled, the 

watercourse’s upstream catchment has largely been drained into public 

sewers and diverted away from the watercourse. There is nonetheless 

expected to be a residual risk of flooding to the site from this channel. The 

assessment however concludes that the watercourse issues from a 150mm 

diameter pipe and this will restrict the volume of water able to enter the 

channel, the risk of fluvial flooding is therefore considered to be low. 

 
8.16 The Environment Agency’s 2nd Generation updated Flood Map for Surface 

Water (uFMfSW) shows the majority of the site to be at negligible risk of 

surface water flooding, but does identify a flow path along the site’s western 

boundary and appears to be associated with the watercourse along this edge. 

There is also an area of flooding to the east of the site on Majestic Way with a 

3.33% AEP of happening. This area of flooding is shown to be contained 

within the highway and outside the site boundary. The risk of surface water 

flooding to the site is therefore considered to be largely negligible, with a small 

area along the western boundary of the site at higher risk, this would fall 

within land identified as undevelopable recognising the identified site 

constraints. 

 
8.17 Reservoir flooding is considered to be a high hazard - Wide Waters reservoir 

is located directly upstream of the site - but the probability of flooding from 

reservoir inundation is low. Given the proximity of the site to the reservoir and 

the height of the dam, it is also anticipated that the velocity of any inundation 

flows would be high. The risk of reservoir inundation to the site therefore is 

considered to be medium. A recommendation of the assessment is that 

development is focused away from the valley along the site’s western 

boundary. At the time of the assessment an indicative layout / constraints plan 

was not available, this area has therefore been discounted from the 

developable area of the site and further includes the required public sewer 

easement identified in the FRA. It is recommended that additional modelling is 

undertaken to establish the extent any inundation flows would affect the site, 

as well as depth, velocity and hazard these flows would pose. 

 

8.18 There are no areas within the site or in its immediate vicinity modelled to be at 

risk of groundwater flooding, the risk of this is therefore is considered to be 

negligible. 

 
8.19 The FRA identifies that there are several foul sewers crossing the site and a 

gravity connection to one of these sewers should be possible. In accordance 

with the drainage hierarchy, soakaways should be seen as the most 

preferable method of surface water disposal. It may be possible for infiltration 

Page 94



 

 

 

drainage to be utilised for part/all of the site however this is subject to site 

specific investigation that would be controlled through condition, should 

infiltration drainage not be possible – noting the conclusion of the ground 

conditions report that based on the expected geology it is considered that 

infiltration drainage will not generally be suitable at shallow depths, a gravity 

connection should be made to the public surface water sewer system. The 

FRA concludes that ideally any Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDs) 

should be located towards the south of the site, and outside any required 

sewer easements, the indicative layout has presented a number of 

attenuation features in this way and would be anticipated through any detailed 

drainage design. 

 
8.20 The FRA establishes the parameters and areas of further investigation in 

developing a detailed drainage scheme for the site. Development in line with 

this approach would mean that the development will remain safe from flood 

risk and can be suitably drained for the development lifetime. TWC Drainage 

raise supports the Outline proposal subject to conditions for the submission of 

a Drainage Statement Document setting out how the site will be drained in 

line with the findings of the Flood Risk Assessment as part of a Reserved 

Matters application, provision of a scheme for foul and surface water, and 

SUDs management plan. 

 
8.21 Officers are therefore satisfied that the application complies with polices ER11 

and ER12 of the TWLP.  

 
Trees and Ecology 

  

Trees  

 

8.22 The application has been accompanied by a Tree Survey and Arboricultural 

Impact Assessment which have categorised the trees on site in terms of their 

quality, condition and suitability for retention, indicated root protection and 

shading areas where development should not be provided.  

 
8.23 TWC Trees support the proposal but identify a considerable issue with regard 

to the need for drainage enhancement works to the Severn Trent Water 

overflow at the western edge. This is particularly related to facilitating access 

of machinery to undertake works to this part of the site, which would in turn 

impact on the tree cover, future landscape, shading plan and mitigation for the 

loss of trees. Provision of a section 106 contribution is identified to manage 

the trees on and adjacent to the site.  

 
8.24 Officers consider that it would be appropriate for the Reserved Matters 

proposal to qualify the level of tree works required in order to undertake the 

Page 95



 

 

 

necessary works to the overflow, and then propose an on-site scheme of 

mitigation, this would be secured through the imposition of a condition. The 

Site Constraints Plan presents the trees to be retained on site, with an 

associated Tree Retention Plan presenting the Root Protection Area, an 

appropriate tree fencing condition can be imposed to avoid any damage to 

these trees during the construction phase. A Landscape Management Plan 

secured through condition would then address future maintenance of the on-

site trees. It is therefore considered that the request for a financial contribution 

would not satisfy the tests obliged of planning obligations.  

 
8.25 At this stage, Officers are satisfied that the proposal will not result in the loss 

of trees or hedgerows with significant amenity value and the Outline 

application therefore complies with local plan policy NE2.  

 
Ecology 
 

8.26 The application has been accompanied by an Extended Phase 1 Ecological 

Appraisal & Great Crested Newt Surveys by Simply Ecology (January 2019) 

updated from August 2018 relating to bat surveys. This concludes that in 

terms of the intrinsic botanical value, the loss of the existing habitats on site is 

not considered to be of considerable detriment to local biodiversity, as this 

habitat is of site value only. The majority of the development area consists of 

semi improved neutral grassland, scattered trees, areas of tall ruderal 

vegetation, hedgerow and two stables. The survey recommends that the loss 

of grassland and ruderal habitats could be addressed via adequate provision 

of Public Open Space (POS) and gardens, and that for the POS, a Landscape 

and Ecological Management Plan should form part of post-development 

management of the site.  

 

8.27 TWC Ecology identify that the level of botanical survey work undertaken is 

sufficient to support this current planning application. A Proposed Landscape 

and Habitat Principles Plan (A_00106 dated 25.09.2019) has been submitted 

in support of this proposal and demonstrates how a Reserved Matters 

Application will enhance the site for biodiversity and offset the loss of 

grassland and ruderal habitat.  

 

8.28 Six ponds were identified within 500m of the proposed development 

boundary, two ponds of which located to the north of the site are known 

fisheries with likely absence of great crested newts. The four remaining 

ponds, are located within the broadleaved woodland to the south west of the 

site. Pond 1 recorded presence of a large population of great crested newts 

(max count 183, 28/05/18), and Pond 3 and 4 recorded a small population. No 

GCN were recorded in pond 2, although this is likely to be due to the lack of 

Page 96



 

 

 

pond vegetation and dense shading by overhanging trees, reducing the 

suitability of the waterbody for newts.  

 

8.29 Incidental records of GCN were found walking overland on the paths and 

grassland within the woodland during the evening torchlight searches. Simply 

Ecology concluded that the newts are widely dispersed among this habitat.  

 
8.30 Whilst the development site is primarily comprised of less suitable semi-

improved habitat Simply Ecology conclude that the development could have a 

significant effect upon a large meta-population of great crested newt. A 

Natural England mitigation licence, and appropriate mitigation measures, will 

be required to ensure no long-term impacts upon this species.  

 
8.31 The survey recommends that newts will be excluded from the development 

site throughout the construction period using newt exclusion-fencing, and that 

30 consecutive days of newt trapping will then be required to clear the 

development site of a population of this size. As required under a Natural 

England Mitigation licence there will be a requirement for onsite terrestrial 

habitat mitigation for great crested newts. As TWC are required to consider 

the 3 tests under the Habitat & Species regulations prior to granting outline 

consent a Proposed Landscape and Habitat Principles Plan (A_00106 dated 

25.09.2019) has been submitted in support of this outline planning 

permission. On the basis of this plan, TWC Ecology are satisfied that the 

favourable conservation status of great crested newts will be maintained. 

 
8.32 The appraisal concludes that the site had very little suitable habitat for reptiles 

and therefore the likelihood that reptiles would be present was considered to 

be low. TWC Ecology agree that a method statement which is developed to 

protect great crested newts during development is suitable to also reduce the 

risk of killing and injuring reptiles. As terrestrial habitat will be lost from the site 

the Landscape and Habitat Principles Plan which has been submitted shows 

terrestrial habitat enhancement. 

 
8.33 Related to bats, survey work was undertaken of scattered trees and stables 

within the site boundary. Overall, only one of the trees within the site 

boundary contained any Potential Roost Features. All the other scattered 

trees were assessed as having no potential to support roosting bats. The 

mature woodland around the site boundaries are considered likely to have 

foraging value for bats. Bat roost features were not thoroughly searched for as 

trees are to be retained. The indicative plan has been updated showing the 

highways road to the northern boundary being reduced in length, such an 

approach would be anticipated of any Reserved Matters application. A strict 

lighting condition will ensure that the woodland boundary, which is within 

Page 97



 

 

 

Telford & Wrekin’s Green Network, and is priority habitat, will not lose its 

ecological functionality.  

 
8.34 Within the survey area was a small complex of wooden stables and 

associated hardstanding. The buildings were checked for potential roost 

features and evidence of use by bats. No potential for bats to roost within the 

buildings were recorded. No further survey work is required.  

 

8.35 The overgrown hedgerow to the north and scattered trees all clearly have 

suitability to supporting bird nesting.  

 

8.36 The current proposals will result in the loss of the habitats on site, including 

the scattered trees and hedgerow suitable for breeding birds. A Landscape 

Plan would be conditioned on the planning decision notice to mitigate for the 

loss of suitable habitat. Nesting bird boxes would be conditioned in order to 

enhance the site for nesting birds. The desk study highlighted hedgehog as a 

mammal identified within 2km of the site boundary. The development 

proposals must include standard mitigation measures to ensure no impact 

upon hedgehogs. Mitigation for small mammals can be conditioned on a 

planning decision notice.  

 
8.37 Subject to further detailing around the ecological mitigation for the 

development of the site, and the imposition of conditions to ensure the 

protection of species and habitat improvements the Ecologist raises no 

objections. Accordingly, it is considered that the proposal complies with policy 

NE1. 

 
 Ground Conditions 

 

8.38 A Ground Investigation Survey (September 2018) has been carried out which 

identifies that based on the available records it is highly unlikely that shallow 

mine workings exist beneath the site and therefore are not considered to be a 

constraint to the development of the site. Furthermore, there are a number of 

potential sources of contamination resulting from historical activities within the 

vicinity of the site, namely mineral tramway, local mining, infill to historic sand 

pit and spillages from local infrastructure. No signs of contamination were 

found during an initial visual appraisal, with no signs of site vegetation being 

under physiological stress or staining or discolouration of soils were found 

present.  

 

8.39 Subsequent chemical testing of soils also found levels to be below those 

which would constitute constraints to human health. Testing of groundwater 

produced results considered acceptable to allow residential development to 

occur. Based on the available information, standard reinforced strip 

Page 98



 

 

 

foundations are considered suitable across the majority of the site, with trench 

fill or raft foundations likely to be required locally. It is important that all 

foundation excavations are inspected by a suitably qualified person, to verify 

the suitability of the founding material. Accordingly, the proposal is considered 

to satisfy the requirements of TWLP policy BE10 and paragraph 178 of the 

NPPF. 

 
8.40 Subject to the submitted report and recommendations, it is considered that 

there is no reason why the site cannot be developed for housing. An 

appropriate condition will be attached to the decision to ensure that the site is 

made to an acceptable standard prior to the commencement of any 

development. Officers are therefore satisfied that the proposal complies with 

policies BE9 and BE10.   

 
Other Issues  

 
 Layout and design 
 
8.41 Members are reminded that the submitted Site Layout Plan is indicative only 

and a detailed consideration of layout, scale and appearance will take place at 

the Reserved Matter stage. This would be subject to normal consultation 

procedures therefore local residents and interested persons would have the 

opportunity to comment, once an application has been submitted. The 

applicant is encouraged to engage with the Local Planning Authority prior to 

submission to ensure a high level of design across the whole site to ensure, 

proposed dwellings fit suitably into the character of the area and existing 

nearby dwellings.  

 
8.42 In regards to character, attention is drawn to the mix of units presented. Local 

representation has highlighted the level of semi-detached dwellings, 

particularly in regard to the frontage of the site along Majestic Way as not in 

keeping. Here Officers concur that the extent of provision is on the high side. 

Whilst properties of Majestic Way are positioned in relative proximity to one 

another, with provision of corner turner units acceptable to provide a varied 

frontage, scope to deliver further detached properties would be necessary 

through any Reserved Matters submission. This in part emphasises the 

amendment to the description of up to 39 dwellings. A balance is to be 

achieved here in providing a development that positively respects the 

character of the area whilst providing a mix of housing types and sizes as 

necessitated by TWLP policy HO4.  

 
8.43 Amendment to the indicative layout has been sought to provide development 

punctuating the vista at the south western end of the site, to reduce the 

stretches of boundary treatments present in the streetscene and better 

address nodal points of the site, such principles would be anticipated through 

Page 99



 

 

 

any Reserved Matters layout application. The need for a balanced approach 

to parking would also be necessity of a detailed layout, with encouragement 

that any design seeks to set back provision and be broken up with 

landscaping, here attention is drawn to the comments of the Tree Officer in 

identifying the need for key planting along Majestic Way to enhance the 

streetscene and provide the dwellings with scale. 

 
8.44 The indicative layout presents the shadow cast across the site from the trees 

along the western and southern edges of the site, this is further detailed in a 

separate Site Constraints Plan, trees to be retained, together with the 

drainage easements. Each of these dictate the potential developable area of 

the site thus informing the scope of any Reserved Matters proposal. In turn 

there will be a significant amount of proposed Public Open Space 

(landscaping) / shared space (e.g. car parking) proposed in this application 

which requires management / maintenance. A Long Term Landscape 

Management Plan is therefore recommended as a condition to identify who is 

to undertake the management of the spaces, how it is to be maintained and 

how this is to be funded, this is alongside a detailed landscape design (as 

further requested by TWC Ecology). 

 
8.45 The current topography within the site falls from approximately 136mAOD at 

the northern ‘tip’, to approximately 123.5mAOD in the south-western corner of 

the site. This represents an overall fall of approximately 12.5m over a distance 

of approximately 300m, giving a general slope of approximately 1 in 24. There 

is also a variable east to west cross-fall, from Majestic Way to The Ironbridge 

Way footpath. These cross-falls are gentle in the north, typically 1 in 25, but 

become more significant in the central and southern parts. Here, the east to 

west cross-falls are more challenging and vary up to approximately 1 in 10 

and 1 in 15. 

 

8.46 The Design & Access Statement identifies that consequently, the proposed 

dwellings within the northern part of the site would be located on relatively 

level ground and would require minimal earthworks to create individual 

development platforms that sit naturally within the current landscape.  

 
8.47 In the central and southern parts of the site however, it is envisaged that 

earthworks and localised retaining walls will be required to regrade the more 

severe cross-falls into suitable development platforms. In these parts, the 

indicative layout shows two lines of dwellings running north to south down the 

length of the site, one fronting eastwards onto Majestic Way, and one facing 

westwards onto the proposed new estate road. The current level differences 

between the two roads, which are approximately 50m apart, varies from 

around 2m in the north to around 5m in the south. It is envisaged that this 

variance could be accommodated by constructing two long north to south 

Page 100



 

 

 

orientated development strips, each one made to accommodate a line of 

properties. Each strip would be nominally 25m wide, and would follow the 

natural southerly slope, but also have an east to west slope shallower to that 

currently present. The two strips would be separated by a long central 

retaining wall running north to south along the rear garden boundaries of the 

two lines of properties. The height of the long retaining wall would need to 

increase from north to south, and will depend on the final layout and design of 

the platform cross-falls. However, it is envisaged that an earthworks solution 

could be developed so that the maximum height of the retaining wall, at its 

southern end, could be no more than 2 to 3m. Bearing this in mind details of 

any retaining structures and associated cross sections of the site would be 

controlled through condition. 

 
 Residential Amenity 
 
8.48 Representations received have raised concerns over the likelihood of 

disruption and disturbance to local residents during the construction period 

including parking of construction traffic, noise, dust, and impact on the 

neighbouring footpaths. Whilst these concerns are noted, any development 

will be subject to a Site Environmental Management Plan which will impose 

controls on factors such as permitted construction hours, dust emissions and 

wheel washing, to ensure the quality of life of local residents is not 

unacceptably affected.  

 
 Impact on local infrastructure 
 
8.49 Concern has been raised in local representation as to the impact of 

development on oversubscribed schools and medical facilities. Related to the 
former an education contribution has been proposed and agreed by the 
applicant towards primary and secondary provision to be spent nearby. 
Related to the latter, Doctors surgeries are private practices and where the 
demand arises the market would duly respond to this. 

 
 Consultation, Property Prices and Views 
 
8.50 Local representation raises concern around the level and nature of 

consultation undertaken on the application. In such a respect it is confirmed 

that a number of site notices were erected on and in the vicinity of the site, 

together with a press notice and neighbour notification such that the 

legislative requirements of consultation have been satisfied. Potential impacts 

on property prices, costs of living (albeit noted that new properties would 

themselves be required to pay council tax, and education contributions 

secured) and views are not material considerations in the determination of a 

planning application. 

 
 

Page 101



 

 

 

9.0 Planning Obligations  
 
9.1 The proposed development meets the requirement to provide the following 

contributions through a S106 agreement: - 

 

9.2 Education: Local Plan Policy COM1 recognises that major new housing 

development will generate additional demands upon existing levels of 

education provision. The application meets the trigger to provide a 

contribution of £116,508 towards primary school provision and £48,803 

towards secondary school provision.  

 

9.3 Recreation: Local Plan Policy NE4 requires that the development provides a 

contribution towards the enhancement of public open space. The Council’s 

Healthy Spaces Officer has confirmed the application generates a contribution 

of £600 per two or more bed dwelling towards the upgrade / enhancement of 

the nearby fishing pegs around the Wide Waters Pool (a maximum of 

£23,400).  

 

9.4 Ecology: Local Plan Policy NE1 requires that biodiversity assets will be 

protected, maintained and enhanced. In order to mitigate for the loss of 

habitat generated by the development, the Council’s Ecologist has confirmed 

that the application necessitates a contribution of £52,900 towards Dawley 

Pools and Pit Mounds Local Nature Reserve, comprising of: 

- £18,000 towards 400 metres of all ability footpath 

- £1,800 towards installation of information boards and bins 

- £14,000 towards restoration of 3 ponds 

- £1,100 towards installation of amphibian and reptile hibernacula 

- £18,000 towards 25 year programme of maintenance 

 

9.5 Affordable Housing: Local Plan Policy HO5 requires that residential 

developments provide affordable housing at 25% within the Telford area.  

 

9.6 In determining the required planning obligations on this specific application 

the following three tests as set out in the CIL Regulations (2019), in particular 

Regulation 122, have been applied to ensure that the application is treated on 

its own merits: 

a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

b) directly related to the development; 

c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
10.0  CONCLUSIONS 
 

10.1 This application seeks outline permission for the erection of up to 39 units on 

land off Majestic Way, Aqueduct. The site is located within the Telford urban 

Page 102



 

 

 

area, has been allocated for housing development in the Telford & Wrekin 

Local Plan, and proceeding this was a committed site through the Wrekin 

Local Plan (adopted in 2000), the majority of the site benefitting consent 

under Section 7(1) of the New Towns Act 1981. Despite a number of 

constraints across the site, the principle of development on the site is 

considered acceptable in terms of technical drainage, trees, ecology and 

ground stability issues. Details of the development layout, scale and design 

would be provided at reserved matters. 

 

10.2  The indicative plans confirm that up to 39 units can be accommodated on the 

site albeit a lesser level of semi-detached properties would be anticipated 

through any Reserved Matters proposal and may therefore lessen the level of 

development forthcoming. The supporting Transport Assessment confirms 

that the proposal will have no material impact upon the normal operation of 

the highway network or highway safety. Officers are satisfied that the 

proposed vehicular access point will be acceptable. 

 

10.3 The proposal generates the requirement for financial contributions towards 

education, recreation, ecology, with provision of on-site affordable housing 

which will be secured through an appropriate agreement.  

 

10.4 Having regard to the above considerations, the proposal represents a 

sustainable form of development, compliant with the National Planning Policy 

Framework and relevant policies within the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan.  

 
11.0  RECOMMENDATION  
 
11.1 Based on the conclusions above, the recommendation to the Planning 

Committee on this application is that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted 

to the Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT 

OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following: 

 
A) The landowner entering into a Section 106 agreement with the Local 

Planning Authority (subject to indexation from the date of committee 

with terms to be agreed by the Development Management Service 

Delivery Manager) relating to: 

  
i) Total Education contribution of £165,311 towards improvements 

to a local primary and secondary school 

ii) Recreation contribution of up to £23,400 based on £600 per 2 

bed (or more) property 

iii) Ecology contribution of £52,900 towards Dawley Pools and Pit 

Mounds Local Nature Reserve, comprising of: 

 £18,000 towards 400 metres of all ability footpath 

Page 103



 

 

 

 £1,800 towards installation of information boards and bins 

 £14,000 towards restoration of 3 ponds 

 £1,100 towards installation of amphibian and reptile 

hibernacula 

 £18,000 towards 25 year programme of maintenance 

iv)  Affordable Housing to be provided at 25% 

 
B) The following conditions (with authority to finalise conditions and 

reasons for approval to be delegated to Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager):-  

 
1. A01  Time limit – Outline 
2. A03 Time Limit - Submission of Reserved Matters  
3. B002  Matters Reserved  
4. B003  Reserved Matters Information – including Drainage 

Statement Document, Swept Path Analysis for fire 
appliances, tree works entailed to enhancement of Severn 
Trent Water overflow and replacement tree proposals 

5. B007  Reserved Matters in general accordance with Landscape 
and Habitat Principles Plan, and Site Constrains Plan 

6. B032  Road Design 
7. B036 Off-site highways (details to be approved) 
8. B042 Highways details 
9. B059 Retaining Structures and cross sections 
10. B059  Geotechs – Foundation Design 
11. B061  Foul and Surface Water Drainage 
12. B076 SUDs Management Plan 
13. B121 Landscaping Design 
14. B126  Landscape Management Plan (long term) 
15. B130 Protective Fencing Trees 
16. B133  Tree Replacements 
17. B143  Habitat Creation and Management Plan 
18. B145 Lighting Strategy  
19. B149 European Protected Species Licence 
20. B149  Construction Environmental Management Plan  
21. B150  Site Environmental Management Plan - particular regard 

to nearby footpaths, stream adjacent to site 
22. C014 Visibility Splays  
23. C040  No approval of layout  
24. C109 Artificial Bird Boxes/Bat Roosts  
25. C38  Approved plans 
26. DCustom Max number of units 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



1:1250

Location Plan

biT
Wellington Civic Offices, Larkin Way, Wellington, Telford,
Shropshire, TF1 1LX
T: 01952 384500
W: www.bit-group.co.uk

Drawing Number

Moor Farm, Majestic Way

Client

Layout Title

Project

Estates & Investments

Scale @ A3     Status 

RevID Detail Issued
By

Issue
Date

Safety Health and Environmental Information Box
Construction Risks, Maintenance/cleaning Risks, Demolition/adaptation Risks

This document and its design content is copyright ©. It shall
be read in conjunc on with all other associated project
informa on including models, specifica ons, schedules and
related consultants documents. Do not scale from documents. All
dimensions to be checked on site. Immediately report any
discrepancies, errors or omisions on this document to the
Originator. If in doubt ASK.

© Crown copyright [and database rights] 2015 Ordnance Survey
100019694.   re-use or addi onal photo copies of of this map
are not permi ed except where  the end user holds a relevant
licence with Ordnance Survey.

Notes:

     project       originator    zone      level       type     role                  number                      rev

18114 biT A_00101

15
2

Issues

53

154

8

47

LAWFORD

1

Jays End

35

Willow Rise

SH
UT
FI
EL
D

3
1

Capricorn

41

25

14

14
4

170

Sub

1

1

7

116

El

Sta

2
2

12

1

8

9 105

1

1

112
6

24

2

S
O
V
E
R
E
IG
N

17

7

18

14

MAJE
STIC

 WA
Y

1

107

133

125

37

14

CLOSE

CL
OS
E

BR
OA
DS
TO
NE
 M
EW
S

14

5

113

HAZELWOOD

2
5

1

RO
AD

8

12
4
7

DRIVE

124

1

123

2

111

118

19

6

8

12

122

CLOSE

106

109

15

12

S
C
E
P
T
R
E
 
C
L
O
S
E

15

Pa
th
 (
um
)

ETL

11

21

Pat
h (

um)

T
h
e
 
Ir
o
n
 
B
r
id
g
e
 
W
a
y

8

9

Path

WID
EWA

TER
S

The Wide Waters

Reeds

12

ETL

134

Pa
th
 (u

m)

Path (um)

00ARXX GF

18114_biT_00_XX_IE_AR_00102_P_Rev00_Moor Farm Access

Planning

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2019/0560  
Site of The Mill House, Walcot, Telford, Shropshire 
Conversion of existing stable block to dwelling *AMENDED PLANS AND 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION SUBMITTED*   
 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
David Carding 05/07/2019 
 
PARISH WARD 
Rodington, Wrockwardine Wrockwardine 
 
THIS APPLICATION HAS BEEN CALLED TO COMMITTEE AT THE REQUEST 
OF CLLR JACQUELINE SEYMOUR.  
 
1. Summary Recommendations 

 

1.1 Full Grant subject to conditions and informatives. 

 

2. APPLICATION SITE 

 

2.1 The site subject to this application is located within Walcot. Walcot is a village 

which is located within the parish of Wrockwardine and is located 

approximately 4 miles from Wellington and 8 miles from Shrewsbury.   

 

2.2 The Mill is a detached, two-storey building which has been constructed in a 

mix of brown and buff mix facing brick. The roof of the building is gabled and 

has been covered in plain tiles. The building retains a number of historic 

features such as arched head windows and doors, and pitching holes. 

 

3. Application Details 

 

3.1 This application seeks permission for the conversion of existing stable block 

into 1no. dwelling.  

 

3.2 The dwelling will be two-storeys high and will create 3no. bedrooms. The 

majority of works proposed to the building are internal, however’ a small 

timber framed, side extension is proposed.  

 

3.3 2no. Parking spaces will be created to the side of the dwelling and a 

significant amount of private amenity space will be located to the side and 

rear of the dwelling.  

 

 

 

 

Page 113

Agenda Item 6e



 

 

 

4. Planning History 

 

4.1 TWC/2015/0915 – Conversion of 2no. barns into 1no. dwelling with new 

pitched roof, internal alterations and alterations to existing access – Full 

Granted on 13/04/2016. 

 

4.2 W87/0389 - Conversion of stables and adjoining implement sheds to dwelling 

and garage – Full Refused on 16/07/1987. 

 

5. Relevant Policy Documents 

 

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 

5.2 Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031 

 

6. Neighbour Representations  

 

6.1 One neighbouring property has been formally consulted on the proposal and 

as a result of this consultation, one letter of objection has been received. 

The letter of objection raises the following comment/concerns: 

 

 The proposal will result in traffic going past the ‘Clock House’, which 

will be of a detriment to the amenity of the existing resident.  

 

 The proposal has been refused a number of times previously on the 

basis that the scheme posed risks to highway safety.  

 

 The proposal will have a negative impact on the ecology of the area.  

 

 The proposed gate will be open and there is no way of ensuring that 

this is kept locked.  

 

7. Statutory Representations 

 

7.1 Rodington Parish Council – No comment 

 

7.2 Wrockwardine Parish Council – No comment 

 

7.3 Cllr Jacqueline Seymour – Object: 

Requested that the application is determined at Planning Committee as it is 

considered that the proposal will result in a detrimental impact upon the 

occupants of ‘Clock Cottage’ and as the drainage and foul sewerage has not 

Page 114



 

 

 

been addressed within this application.  

 

7.4 Drainage, Highways and Ecology – Support subject to conditions  

 

7.5 Built Heritage Conservation – No objection 

 

7.6 Shropshire Fire Service – Comment: 

As part of the planning process, consideration should be given to the 

information contained within Shropshire Fire and Rescue Service’s “Fire 

Safety Guidance for Commercial and Domestic Planning Applications” 

document.  

 

8. Appraisal 

 

8.1 Having regard to the development plan policy and other material 

considerations including comments received during the consultation process, 

the planning application raises the following main issues: 

 The principle of development 

 The scale and design of the proposal 

 Highways impacts 

 Impact upon the amenity of adjacent properties/uses 

 Other matters 
 
Principle of development: 

8.2 The site subject to this application is located outside of the urban boundary of 

Telford within the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031, and as such, is 

considered to be located within the rural area. 

 

8.3 Policy HO10 of the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031 (Residential 

development in the rural area) outlines that the Council will support a limited 

amount of infill housing in the settlements of Edgmond, High Ercall, Lilleshall, 

Tibberton and Waters Upton. Outside of these settlements development will 

be strictly controlled. The Council will only support applications for housing 

outside of these areas, if one of the following exceptions are met: 

 

 The proposal is compliant with the exceptions set out in Policy HO11; 

 The proposal would result in the optimal use in a heritage asset; 

 The proposal would represent exceptional quality or innovative design; 

 The proposal would meet the need for a rural workers dwelling. 

8.4 The applicant has submitted a scheme which attempts to achieve the ‘optimal 

use of a heritage asset’ exception. In order to demonstrate that the stable 

block subject to this application is a non-designated heritage asset, the 

applicant has submitted a Heritage Impact Assessment and a Supporting 

Page 115



 

 

 

Statement. These documents conclude that the stable block is a non-

designated heritage asset and this assessment has been agreed by the 

Council’s Built Heritage Specialist.  

8.5 The form of the building lends itself to be converted into a residential dwelling, 

with a number of existing openings being present and the building being of a 

solid overall structure. Given the properties location and the close proximity to 

neighbouring properties, the LPA are satisfied that converting the building into 

a residential dwelling would be most appropriate and optimal use for the 

building and would ensure this buildings long term survival.  

8.6 As such, the LPA consider that the principle of development has been 

established and that it has been satisfactorily demonstrated that the criteria of 

Policy HO10 has been met.  

 

The scale and design of the proposal: 

8.7 In order to successfully convert the stable block into a dwelling, a number of 

internal and external works will need to take place. The applicant has 

proposed to utilise a number of the existing openings in order to insert new 

windows and doors and is proposing to block up an existing doorway on the 

rear elevation of the building. In order to provide additional living 

accommodation, a timber framed side extension is proposed in order to 

provide a formal entrance and storage areas. Additionally, solar panels are 

proposed to the roof and a single roof light is proposed. 

8.8 Internal works include the creation of stud walling and the installation of 

facilities such as bathrooms and a kitchen. The Council’s Built Heritage 

Specialist has supported the scheme and has asked for a number of 

conditions to be placed on any approval, which asks for samples of materials 

and joinery details to be submitted, in order to ensure that the architectural 

and historic character of the non-designated heritage asset is not harmed.   

8.9 As such, the LPA considers that the scale and design of the proposed works 

are acceptable and will not result in the loss of any historic fabric. The 

proposed works are considered to respect and respond positively to the non-

designated heritage asset. Additionally, adequate private amenity space has 

been provided. The proposal is deemed to be compliant with policy BE1 of the 

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan and the national guidance contained within the 

NPPF. 

 

Highways impacts: 

8.10 The Local Highways Authority has assessed the information submitted as part 

of this application and have supported the scheme subject to conditions. A 

previous application for the conversion of ‘the Old Stables’ into residential 

dwellings was approved on the site and the applicant proposed to create an 

access at the South-East of the site in order to serve the converted barns. 

The applicant has proposed to extend this access to provide access to the 

residential dwelling proposed within this application. The Local Highways 

Page 116



 

 

 

Authority raise no objections to this access being extended and serving 

another property. A condition will be included on any approval which ensures 

that full details of the access is provided and conditions which ensure that the 

visibility splays and car parking are provided before the dwelling is occupied.   

Adequate parking has been provided on the site in accordance with Appendix 

F of the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031. 

8.11 The owner of ‘Clock Cottage’ has raised concerns that the new access may 

not be used by the future owners of the dwelling, and the shorter access 

which runs past ‘Clock Cottage’ may be used by the occupants. The applicant 

has proposed to erect a gate on this track so that a physical barrier is present 

to discourage the use of this access. Whilst officers do consider that this is a 

positive contribution by the applicant, the LPA could not condition that this 

could only be used in emergencies as it would not be enforceable.  

8.12 However, without this gate being installed, officers do not consider that the 

use of this access would be unreasonable as it is within the ownership of the 

applicant and would only be used by one additional dwelling. It is not 

considered that the use of this access would result in a significant detrimental 

impact upon the living conditions of the occupiers of ‘Clock Cottage’. 

8.13 Furthermore, the Local Highways Authority outlined that although the 

Planning Inspectorate concluded within the 1987 appeal that the 

intensification of this access would likely lead to a road safety hazard, the 

Local Highways Authority must consider the fact that the applicant has a right 

of access over this track, whereby the existing stable block could reasonably 

operate as a stable block without any planning involvement, resulting in 

access and egress with large vehicles towing horse boxes etc. With this in 

mind, it is not considered in this instance that the conversion of the stable 

block into a residential dwelling would result in any net detriment to the safe 

operation of the adopted highway from the existing permitted scenario.  

8.14 As the Local Highways Authority are satisfied with the proposed access, there 

are no technical highways reasons to warrant the refusal of this application. 

 

Impact upon the amenity of adjacent properties/uses: 

8.15 The property which is located the closest to the proposed dwelling is ‘Clock 

Cottage’ which lies to the South-West of the application site. Officers have 

assessed the scheme and can confirm that due to separation distances and 

the design of the proposal, the scheme will not cause any issues of 

overlooking, overbearing impact or loss of privacy.  

8.16 The owner/occupier of ‘Clock Cottage’ has objected to the scheme on the 

basis that the new occupants will use the existing access which runs to the 

front of the property, which will cause detrimental harm to the amenity of the 

occupant of this property. 

8.17 The LPA would highlight that any construction vehicles which use this access 

would be for a limited period only and would only be accessing the site an 

Page 117



 

 

 

certain times of the day. Furthermore, it is not considered that if the future 

owners of the property used the existing access to the front of ‘Clock Cottage’ 

to access their property, the frequency and volume of traffic associated with 

this would not amount to a significantly detrimental impact. The proposal is 

therefore deemed to be compliant with Policy BE1 of the Telford & Wrekin 

Local Plan 2011-2031.  

 

9. CONCLUSIONS  

 

9.1 On balance, it is considered that the proposal is compliant with policy HO10 of 

the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031 and represents the optimal use of 

a heritage asset. The works required in order to successfully convert the 

dwelling are acceptable in regards to scale and design and the proposal will 

not result in a significantly detrimental impact on the amenity of neighbouring 

properties/uses and is therefore compliant with Policy BE1 of the Telford & 

Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031. There are no technical objections to the 

proposal. The proposal is therefore deemed to be compliant with the Telford & 

Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031 and the guidance contained within the NPPF.  

 

10. Detailed recommendation  

Based on the conclusions above, the recommendation to the Planning Committee on 
this application is to FULL GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the 
following conditions and informatives:  
 

1. A04   Time limit 

2. B014   Samples of materials 

3. B049Custom  Highways scheme of works 

4. B061   Foul and surface water drainage 

5. B094   Roof details 

6. B096   Brick bond and type 

7. B098   Decorative finishes 

8. B100   Roof lights 

9. B113   Archaeology: Photographic survey 

10. B149Custom  Erection of artificial nesting/roosting boxes 

11. B149Custom  Lighting plan 

12. C013   Car parking 

13. C014   Visibility splays 

14. C38   Development in accordance with approved plans 

15. D11   Hours of work 

16. I11   Highways 

17. I23   Bats 

18. I25m   Nesting wild birds 

19. I32   Fire authority 

20. I36   Street naming and numbering 

21. I40   Conditions 

Page 118



 

 

 

22. I41   Reasons for grant of approval 

23. RANPPF1 

 
 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



GP

Bridge

49.3m

Clock

Mill House

Walcot
Track

Sluice

57.7m

Sewage

Sluice

Gwenlas

Works

Track

Sluice

Walcot

FB

49.1m

Sluice

Def

The Old Stables

Cottage

The Elms

The

FB

10050250
A

Drawn By: RC

Date: Jun 2019

Scale

A3

Paper

SA31136_PL_01 1:1250

Rev.

Proposed barn conversion of the old
stables on land at the Mill House,
Walcot, TF6 5ER.

Client:

Project:

Mr D. Carding.

Drawing:
Location plan.

Drawing Number:

B E R R Y S
PROPERTY | BUSINESS | PLANNING

01743 271697  |     SY2 6FG

www.berrys.uk.com

s

ew

OS Mapping obtained from Promap Licence No. 100022432
Reproduced by Berrys under OS Licence No. 100003668

Site Area:
2637.49 m²
0.26 hectares
0.65 acres

This drawing is the property of Berrys. It shall not be copied
or scanned, in part or whole, without prior consent of Berrys.

Please do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions are to
be checked on site.

A
Drawing Revisions:

Update to ownership boundary. 04/07/19

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Clock
Mill House

Track

Sluice

Sluice

Sluice

FB

Sluice

Def

The Old Stables

Cottage

The

FB

A
A

B
B

Uncover existing truss and

gable timber frame

sturcture. Assess for

suitability for

retention/repair. Glaze

between and add in

doors. Design element tbc

once structure has been

revealed.

Lean to structure removed

footprint shown in dashed

grey.

18

17

16

15

14

13

12

11

10

9
8

7
6

5
4

3
2

1

storage under

838

83
8

kitchen

dining

utility/pantry

living

wardrobe

fixed pane or sliding glazing? tbc

replacement sliding doors to be sliding

timber screens to change lighting

aspect and privacy when needed.

wc

beam over

beam over

900mm f/f

900mm

oven etc.

600m
m

full height

cupboards

600mm

full height

cupboards worktop space and open

storage shelving

plant

log store /

storage

bench and

boot store

838

83
8

storage bedroom

en/suite

existing
garden level
raised to
create tiered
garden

existing tiered garden
re landscaped

existing tiered garden
re landscaped

existing tiered garden
re landscaped

existing tiered garden
re landscaped

new parking area

existing
garden level
raised to
create tiered
garden

existing pathway renovated

25 50100

B

I

G

R

W

P

R

W

P

R

W

P

R

W

P

R

W

P

sewerage
treatment
plant min. 10m
from dwelling.

secondary sw option -
soakaway designed in
accordance with BRE 365,
following undertaking of
percolation tests.

R

W

P

primary sw
option - existing
surface water
drainage to be
used, runs to
river.

new timber post
and rail fence to
rivers edge.

0 1052.51

emergency
access gate

D

Drawn By: RC

Date: Jun 2019

Scale

A3

Paper

SA31136_PL_02 1:500

Rev.

Proposed barn conversion of the old
stables on land at the Mill House,
Walcot, TF6 5ER.

Client:

Project:

Mr D. Carding.

Drawing:
Site plan.

Drawing Number:

B E R R Y S
PROPERTY | BUSINESS | PLANNING

01743 271697  |     SY2 6FG

www.berrys.uk.com

s

ew

OS Mapping obtained from Promap Licence No. 100022432
Reproduced by Berrys under OS Licence No. 100003668

Site Area:
3052.68 m²
0.305 hectares
0.754 acres

This drawing is the property of Berrys. It shall not be copied
or scanned, in part or whole, without prior consent of Berrys.

Please do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions are to
be checked on site.

A

B
C

D

Drawing Revisions:
Parking amendments. Indicative drainage
information added.
Emergency access gates added to plan.
Gates replaced by hydraulic bollards, new
fencing to river boundary.
Bollards replaced by timber gate.

31/07/19

13/08/19

19/08/19
02/09/19

P
age 123

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



0 1052.51
Drawn By: RC

Date: Jun 2019

Scale

A3

Paper

SA31136_PL_11 1:100

Rev.

Proposed barn conversion of the old
stables on land at the Mill House,
Walcot, TF6 5ER.

Client:

Project:

Mr D. Carding.

Drawing:
Existing ground floor plan.

Drawing Number:

B E R R Y S
PROPERTY | BUSINESS | PLANNING

01743 271697  |     SY2 6FG

www.berrys.uk.com

se

w

OS Mapping obtained from Promap Licence No. 100022432
Reproduced by Berrys under OS Licence No. 100003668
This drawing is the property of Berrys. It shall not be copied
or scanned, in part or whole, without prior consent of Berrys.

Please do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions are to
be checked on site.

A
Drawing Revisions:

P
age 125

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
97.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
97.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
FL97.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
100.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
99.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
96.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
96.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
96.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
96.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
95.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
95.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
95.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
95.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
95.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
96.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
96.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
96.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
95.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
95.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
95.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
96.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
99.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
100.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
99.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
99.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
100.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
101.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
100.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
97.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
97.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
97.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
97.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
97.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
95.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
95.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
95.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
95.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
95.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
94.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
94.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
94.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
94.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
94.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
94.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
94.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
94.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
FL94.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
FL95.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
95.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
THR

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
SANDSTONE RET/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
GRAVEL TRACK

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
PLINTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
METAL

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
102.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
101.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
101.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
101.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
100.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
100.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
100.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
100.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
100.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
100.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
99.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
99.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
99.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
99.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
99.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
98.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
98.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
98.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
98.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
97.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
97.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
95.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
95.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
95.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
95.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
95.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
95.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
95.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
95.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
95.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
95.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
94.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
95.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
95.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
95.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
94.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
94.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
95.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
95.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
95.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
95.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
95.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
95.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
TOP OF RET/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
95.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
95.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
95.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
96.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
96.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
95.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
96.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
96.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
LEAN-TO

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
LOW BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
BRICK WALL BROKEN

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
LOOSE TIMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
TIMBER PARTITION

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
CHUTE

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
97.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
97.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
97.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
97.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
98.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
99.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
99.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
99.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
100.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
100.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
100.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
99.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
98.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
97.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
97.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
101.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
101.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
101.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
101.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
101.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
101.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
101.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
101.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
101.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
101.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
101.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
RET/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
TIMBER RET/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
TIMBER RET/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
BRICK RET/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
(BURIED)

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
CHANNEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
CHANNEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
94.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
94.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
94.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
94.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
95.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
95.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
95.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
TIMBER FRAMED GRAVEL STEPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
TIMBER PLATFORM

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
GULLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
BOLLARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
BRICK SETT RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
CHANGE IN BANK GRADIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
CHANGE IN BANK GRADIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
SANDSTONE RET/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
CHANGE IN BANK GRADIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
BRICK RET/WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
SHEER FACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
(STRUCTURE DETAIL NOT VISIBLE)

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
PARTY WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
STEEP BANK

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
STEEP BANK

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
STEEP BANK

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
STEEP BANK

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
Ht TO BULKHEAD 2.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
FLOOR OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
FLOOR OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
FLOOR OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
LADDER

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
STEEP BANK

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
FC5.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
FB2.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
FB2.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
FB2.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
FL95.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
FB2.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
FS1.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
SH1.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
FS1.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
SH1.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
FS2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
SH0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
FS2.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
SH0.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
FB2.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
FC2.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
(JOIST SOFFIT)

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
TIMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
TIMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
LOW BRICK WALL



T
his page is intentionally left blank



0 1052.51
Drawn By: RC

Date: Jun 2019

Scale

A3

Paper

SA31136_PL_12 1:100

Rev.

Proposed barn conversion of the old
stables on land at the Mill House,
Walcot, TF6 5ER.

Client:

Project:

Mr D. Carding.

Drawing:
Existing first floor plan.

Drawing Number:

B E R R Y S
PROPERTY | BUSINESS | PLANNING

01743 271697  |     SY2 6FG

www.berrys.uk.com

se

w

OS Mapping obtained from Promap Licence No. 100022432
Reproduced by Berrys under OS Licence No. 100003668
This drawing is the property of Berrys. It shall not be copied
or scanned, in part or whole, without prior consent of Berrys.

Please do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions are to
be checked on site.

A
Drawing Revisions:

P
age 127

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
PARTY WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
FL97.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
97.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
TIMBER PLATFORM

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
97.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
THR

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
DN

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
FC4.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
FB2.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
Ht TO TOP OF BRICK 1.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
FS0.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
FL98.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
FLOOR OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
FLOOR OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
FLOOR OPENING

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
FB2.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
SH1.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
FS0.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
SH1.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
FS0.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
SH1.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
FS0.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
SH0.90



T
his page is intentionally left blank



0 1052.51 Drawn By: RC

Date: Jun 2019

Scale

A3

Paper

SA31136_PL_13 1:100

Rev.

Proposed barn conversion of the old
stables on land at the Mill House,
Walcot, TF6 5ER.

Client:

Project:

Mr D. Carding.

Drawing:
Existing elevations.

Drawing Number:

B E R R Y S
PROPERTY | BUSINESS | PLANNING

01743 271697  |     SY2 6FG

www.berrys.uk.com

OS Mapping obtained from Promap Licence No. 100022432
Reproduced by Berrys under OS Licence No. 100003668
This drawing is the property of Berrys. It shall not be copied
or scanned, in part or whole, without prior consent of Berrys.

Please do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions are to
be checked on site.

A
Drawing Revisions:

P
age 129

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
Arbitrary Datum 94.00 A.O.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
Arbitrary Datum 94.00 A.O.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
Arbitrary Datum 94.00 A.O.D.



T
his page is intentionally left blank



New Timber framed
extension to replace lean
to structure.

Full height glazing
introduced into existing
openings.

Sliding louvered barn door style screens
for privacy and protection from
excessive solar gain as necessary.

New glazing to
existing
openings.

New door in
existing
doorway.

Reparations to roof as
necessary

Reparations to roof as
necessary

Slate roof tile to match
barn roof

New retaining
wall to
boundary.

New glazing
to existing
windows.

Solar panels to
roof.

Existing ground
level shown
dotted.

New extension over
existing lean to.

New glazing
to existing
windows.

0 1052.51

Conservation
roof light.

Timber
retaining
planter boxes.

New Timber framed extension to replace lean
to structure and provide new main entrance
to property.

Tiered garden and retaining wall to rear. Existing ground
level shown
dotted.

B

Drawn By: RC

Date: Jun 2019

Scale

A3

Paper

SA31136_PL_22 1:100

Rev.

Proposed barn conversion of the old
stables on land at the Mill House,
Walcot, TF6 5ER.

Client:

Project:

Mr D. Carding.

Drawing:
Proposed elevations.

Drawing Number:

B E R R Y S
PROPERTY | BUSINESS | PLANNING

01743 271697  |     SY2 6FG

www.berrys.uk.com

OS Mapping obtained from Promap Licence No. 100022432
Reproduced by Berrys under OS Licence No. 100003668
This drawing is the property of Berrys. It shall not be copied
or scanned, in part or whole, without prior consent of Berrys.

Please do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions are to
be checked on site.

A
B

Drawing Revisions:
Roof lights added.
Two number roof lights removed. Roof
lowered on timber frame extension.

04/07/19

31/07/19

P
age 131

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
Arbitrary Datum 94.00 A.O.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
Arbitrary Datum 94.00 A.O.D.



T
his page is intentionally left blank



purlin over purlin over purlin over - restricted
headroom (1700mm)

purlin over purlin over purlin over

ridge beam

truss 2 truss 3truss 1

beam over beam over beam over

838

vaulted ceiling

18171615

14

13

12

11

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

mezzanine
office space

bed 2 master

built in
shelving

built in
wardrobe

gallery landing

838

built in
shelving

existing opening
closed off

0 1052.51

83
8

bathroom

Uncover existing truss and
gable timber frame
sturcture. Assess for
suitability for
retention/repair. Glaze
between and add in
doors. Design element tbc
once structure has been
revealed.

Lean to structure removed
footprint shown in dashed
grey.

18171615

14

13

12

11

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

storage under

83
8

838

kitchendining utility/pantry living
wardrobe

fixed pane or sliding glazing? tbc

replacement sliding doors to be sliding
timber screens to change lighting
aspect and privacy when needed.

wc

beam overbeam over

900mm f/f

900mm
oven etc.

600mm
full height
cupboards

600mm
full height
cupboards

worktop space and open
storage shelving

plant

log store /
storage

bench and
boot store

83
8

838

storage

bedroom

en/suite

rooflight

B

Drawn By: RC

Date: Jun 2019

Scale

A3

Paper

SA31136_PL_21 1:100

Rev.

Proposed barn conversion of the old
stables on land at the Mill House,
Walcot, TF6 5ER.

Client:

Project:

Mr D. Carding.

Drawing:
Proposed floor plans.

Drawing Number:

B E R R Y S
PROPERTY | BUSINESS | PLANNING

01743 271697  |     SY2 6FG

www.berrys.uk.com

se

w

OS Mapping obtained from Promap Licence No. 100022432
Reproduced by Berrys under OS Licence No. 100003668
This drawing is the property of Berrys. It shall not be copied
or scanned, in part or whole, without prior consent of Berrys.

Please do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions are to
be checked on site.

A
B

Drawing Revisions:
Rooflights added.
Two number roof lights removed.

04/07/19
31/07/19

P
age 133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Planning Applications for Determination
	6a TWC/2016/0553 - Land East of Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge, Telford, Shrosphire
	1. Proposed Location Plan
	2. Proposed Site Layout
	3. Proposed East Elevation
	4. Proposed North Elevation
	5. Proposed South Elevation
	6. Proposed West Elevation

	6b TWC/2016/0554 - Site of Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge, Telford, Shropshire
	1. Location Plan
	2. Proposed Site Layout
	3. Proposed First Floor Plan
	4. Proposed East Elevation
	5. Proposed North Elevation
	6. Proposed South Elevation
	7. Proposed West Elevation

	6c TWC/2019/0133 - Recycling House, Rock Road, Ketley, Telford, Shropshire TF1 5HW
	1. Site Layout Plan
	2. Google Earth Image
	3. Google Earth Image 2

	6d TWC/2019/0487 - Land west of Lawford Close, Off Majestic Way, Aqueduct, Telford, Shropshire
	1. Location plan
	2. Indicative Site Plan
	3. Site Constraints Plan

	6e TWC/2019/0560 - Site of The Mill House, Walcot, Telford, Shropshire
	1. Location Plan
	Sheets and Views
	PL_01_Location_A3


	2. Proposed Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	PL_05_PrSitePlan_A3


	3. Existing Ground Floor Plan
	Sheets and Views
	PL11_ExGFPlans_A3


	4. Existing First Floor Plan
	Sheets and Views
	PL12_ExFFPlans_A3


	5. Existing Elevations
	Sheets and Views
	PL13_ExElevations_A3


	6. Proposed Elevations
	Sheets and Views
	PL22_PrElevations_A3


	7. Proposed Floor Plans
	Sheets and Views
	PL21_PrGFPlans_A3


	8. Proposed Access Arrangements Plan


